**MASTER THESIS** 

THE GOOD, THE BAD AND THE INDIFFERENT

The portrayal of the European Union in Greek media.

Effrosyni Iliopoulou

University of Twente, Enschede, the Netherlands Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social sciences Program of Public Administration

SUPERVISORS:

Dr. Martin Rosema, Assistant Professor of Political Science, University of Twente.

Dr. Jordy F. Gosselt, Assistant Professor of Communication Science, University of Twente.

DATE OF PRESENTATION:

31- August-2020

## Acknowledgements

When I first got into the process of searching for thesis topics in the spring 2019, I ran into several options revolving around the same curiosity question: what could possibly lag behind citizens' attitudes and emotions towards the European Union? The motivation to focus on European politics started growing during my bachelor studies in Greece. Inside the auditorium, the EU was discussed for its history, challenges and future but outside the open doors, there seemed to be a negativity surrounding Europe perceived to be an unpleasant reality with which citizens had to conform from fear of the worst. It was not until later during my master studies where I was introduced to communication processes and the link between news media and public attitudes began to grow.

The thesis would not have been successfully finished without the involvement of several people. First of all, I am particularly thankful to my two supervisors, dr. M. Rosema and dr. J.F. Gosselt for the support, time and inspiration all these months. I would really like to thank dr. Rosema for our discussions on the topic, improvements on the research and writing approach and most importantly, the motivation to keep the spirit. "A master thesis takes some time so do something that you like and truly enjoy", or so he said in the early stages when I had to choose the topic of my thesis. Indeed, when odds emerged, this advice and his encouragement to keep going really helped me. I really appreciate it and I am grateful for all the support and time you invested in my thesis supervision. I also want to sincerely thank dr. Gosselt for the insightful comments and responsiveness during the thesis writing. There were times that the process seemed chaotic and his way of explaining matters by raising questions and academic writing were really important to further continue the project.

A special thanks goes to some people from my personal life whose support was great. My family who encouraged me, made time and energy available for me in the midst of the daily work, especially when the days and nights were long. There might have been months that I could not go back home but you were always there by my side, listening to my concerns and taught me to develop the courage to stay relentless to my goals even when situations did not go as expected. My friends for the laughs, supportive shoulders and for keeping the feeling of togetherness even when we were some miles apart. Finally, I would like to thank my classmates of the master class of Public Administration for the insightful discussions, especially during group projects.

All in all, this thesis indicates the end of a beautiful journey of personal and learning growth. If there is one lesson after the thesis submission is that there is no ceiling in the learning process. Sometimes "it takes courage. Between the index finger of your hand and the edge of your notebook there are miles you need to traverse" (own translation from Elytis, 1999: 44). Eventually, new opportunities will come.

## Abstract

The media coverage of EU news has been previously studied for its content (e.g., De Vreese et al., 2006; Schuck, et. al, 2006) and its possible effect on the public opinion formation and individuals' perceptions towards the EU (e.g., Lecheler et al., 2010; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003). The present study will explore the presentation of the EU in the media coverage of 2019 European Parliamentary elections by focusing on two elements of the media coverage; the content by means of frames and the tone referring to the explicit evaluations in the news articles. The study concentrates on the case of Greece as a country affected from the close relations with the EU while the EU was on the forefront of many crises the last decade but, to the best of my knowledge, there is no information or knowledge of how the EU is being portrayed. In doing so, 755 news articles were retrieved and analyzed from three national newspapers of a distinct political orientation (left-leaning, right-leaning, independent). Further, and given the event of EP elections, the study focuses on the last four weeks running to the EP elections. Then, both the content and the tone will be compared across time and between newspapers.

The results showed that the presentation of the European Union in the Greek media coverage was mildly positive. This result was based on explicit evaluations that referred to the EU as a political institution, including its policies or related attributes that point out the EU as a whole. By finding a mildly positive slant in the EU presentation, the results seem to be in line with the overall mildly positive attitude towards the EU that Eurobarometer reveals (European Commission & European Parliament, 2019). Next, the content of the media was measured by means of two deductive and one inductive frames. The deductive approach included the benefit and disadvantageous frame that was previously studied for their potential to influence the public support toward the European Union. The inductive frame referred to the indifference of citizens towards the political institution and EU politics. In line with the overall positive tone, the results revealed media coverage predominantly emphasized the benefits the European Union brings to one's country, followed by its disadvantages and the indifference of citizens. These patterns concerning the use of frames and tone of media coverage were also visible across most of the last four-week period heading to the EP elections. Chronological timelines depict the day-to-day differences in the content and tone showing that key events did not shift the use of frames but rather intensified the existing frame competition. The differences across the political orientation of the newspapers were marginal, although the left-leaning outlet was more likely to cover the EU in the negative compared to the right-leaning and independent outlets.

Keywords: European Union, framing, tone, newspapers, Greece, content analysis, 2019 European Parliamentary elections

## Table of contents

## Acknowledgements

### Abstract

Keywords: European Union, framing, tone, newspapers, Greece, content analysis, 2019 European Parliamentary elections

- 1. Introduction
  - 1.1. Greece and the EU and the role of media coverage
  - 1.2. Research question and purpose of this study
  - 1.3. Scientific and societal relevance
- 2. Theoretical framework
  - 2.1. Media framing: definition, effect and types
  - 2.2. Framing the European Union
    - 2.2.1. The benefit and disadvantageous frames
  - 2.3. Tone
  - 2.4. Key events and use of frames
  - 2.5. Left-leaning versus right-leaning newspapers in Greece
- 3. Methods and data
  - 3.1. Setting
    - 3.1.1. The object described
    - 3.1.2. Period of study
  - 3.2. Corpus
    - 3.2.1. Newspaper selection
    - 3.2.2. Article selection
  - 3.3. Coding procedure
    - 3.3.1. Deductive and inductive coding
    - 3.3.2. Code book
    - 3.3.3. Analysis and coding procedure
- 4. Results
  - 4.1. Content of media coverage: The frames of benefits, disadvantages and indifference of EU citizens
  - 4.2. Tone of media coverage in the article
  - 4.3. Occurrence between frames and tone
  - 4.4. Content and tone of media coverage across time
    - 4.4.1. The news frames across time
    - 4.4.2. The tone of media coverage across time
  - 4.5. Content and tone per newspaper
    - 4.5.1. The use of frames across newspapers

- 4.5.2. The tone of the media coverage across newspapers
- 5. Discussion and conclusions
  - 5.1. Main findings and interpreting the results
  - 5.2. Limitations and suggestions for future research
  - 5.3. General conclusions

References

## 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Greece and the EU and the role of media coverage

Remote, not efficient and with a pessimistic future; this is how Greeks currently view the European Union (European Commission & European Parliament, 2019). The relation between the EU and Greeks has been problematic for years and is especially tested in the last couple of years. The economic crisis, the memorandums of cooperation, and a referendum asking for the acceptance or the withdrawal of the financial package the EU creditors offered all contributed to this increasingly complex relationship (e.g., Hansen et al., 2017; Walter et al., 2018). Although the reported benefits from being part of the European Union may outweigh the losses, still in general, Greek evaluations toward the EU tend to be more negative than positive (KAS, 2019). But what are those evaluations based upon and how can they be influenced, if not improved? According to several studies, media coverage highly affects these public evaluations as the media's role is closely linked to the potential of influencing citizens' perceptions, attitudes, but also actual (voting) behavior as well (e.g., Schuck & De Vreese, 2006; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003; Vliegenthart et al., 2008; Wettstein, 2011; Van Spanje et al., 2014).

Although their role is primarily to inform and entertain (McCombs, 1977:90), empirical observations show us that citizens are likely to turn to news media to acquire the information they need to *make sense of* the political world (e.g., European Commission, 2017 a, b, 2019; Iyengar, 1987). That is because, as Maier argues (as cited in Lecheler et al., 2010), the EU and the EU integration alike are viewed as a remote and complex case and individuals have little to no direct experience (Iyengar, 1987; Nardis, 2015). So, we need the media to make sense. This, one could argue, makes the EU "dependent" on the media coverage as per how their affairs are communicated (Lecheler et al., 2010; Berganza, 2009). So, media coverage can be regarded as an important factor in public opinion formation (e.g., Lecheler et al., 2010; Iyengar, 1987; Nardis, 2015; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006).

How does media do that? One option that literature suggests is that the media have the ability to set the agenda by selecting which issue needs to be covered and which one not, hence giving some issues more attention than others (Carroll & McCombs, 2003; Chong & Druckman, 2007c:113). By increasing the number of news stories on a certain issue, people are more likely to think about it and consider it to be important (e.g., Chong & Druckman, 2007; Semetko, 2004). So, agenda setting informs us what people think about but it does not however seem to inform us *how* people think about it (Pan & Kosicki, 1993:70; Mutz, 1992:484). Based on agenda setting, but taking a next step, framing theory does state that media might also actually influence people's perceptions by "emphasizing some aspects of a problem [that] can put people in mind of a very different consideration" (Price et al., 1997) or "a moral evaluation" (Entman, 1993). On the basis that media coverage matters for its potential to influence public perceptions for the EU (e.g., Schuck & De Vreese, 2006:22; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003), many scholars investigated the media coverage of EU news across different countries (e.g., De Vreese et al., 2006) and different events across time (e.g., Peter et al., 2004; De Vreese &

Azrout, 2019). Because media coverage varies across time and countries, the potential role of media could be dependent on the particular context of time and country.

The current paper will focus on the way the media coverage in Greece presents the European Union during the 2019 European Parliamentary elections. With the economic recession started in 2008 and the humanitarian crisis in 2015, one could argue, the EU became an important actor in domestic politics (Cremonesi et al., 2019; Hutter & Kriesi, 2019; Federico & Lahusen, 2018). That is because the EU implemented new policies making the domestic governments less able to autonomously decide the implementation of the EU policies (Cremonesi et al., 2019). This loss of autonomous decision making, one might say, has increased the role of the EU in the public debates (Cremonesi et al., 2019; Hutter & Kriesi, 2019). Such features make it interesting to see how the EU has been currently presented in the media coverage and the current analysis will focus on the period of EP elections as the EU is the main actor (e.g. Van Spanje et al., 2014: 329).

The study will further concentrate on the case of Greece since the complex relations with the EU creditors were characterized by the loss of autonomous decision making. There were three financial packages with austerity measures that, one could say, made the domestic government to conform with the EU policies indicated (cf. Cremonesi et al., 2019) which, in turn, could play a role in public opinion formation for the European Union (Kritzinger,2003). We see precisely that during the economic recession the image of the EU was predominantly negative in the public perceptions (European Commission, 2014) and this negativity was also depicted in the media coverage of 2014 (De Vreese & Azrout, 2019). Then, after the last bailout program in August 2018 and the year after, the perceived image of the EU has shifted; steadily neutral and when evaluated, in 2018 it was more in the negative (European Commission, 2019) and the next year it was more in the positive (European Commission, 2019) and the next year it was more in the positive (European Commission, 2019) and the next year it was more in the positive (European Commission, 2019). Because the EU policies, be it the imposition of austerity measures, can play a role in the way citizens view the European Union (Cremonesi et al., 2019; Hutter & Kriesi, 2019), the current study will explore how the European Union has been currently presented in the media coverage.

#### 1.2. Research question and purpose of this study

In order to find how the European Union has been currently portrayed, by means of performing a media analysis, this study will focus on two concepts of media coverage; the content and the tone. Concerning content, the study will use predefined frames stemming from previous framing literature known for their potential to influence public perceptions and support for the EU. More precisely, the current research will make use of the benefit frame that Vliegenthart et al. (2008) and Van Spanje et al. (2014) examined for their effect on people's support for the EU and, based on the work of Vliegenthart et al. (2008), the study will also include the disadvantageous frame that points to the disadvantages a country may experience from being part of the European Union. Additionally, the study will leave some space for other

aspects that emerged from the media analysis. Second, also following previous content analyses of EU news, the tone of the media coverage will be studied by means of explicit evaluations of the EU as tone could affect public attitudes (e.g., De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006), the appraisal for a policy or political figure (e.g., McCombs et al., 2000; Price et al., 1997), but could as well mobilize voting intention (Banducci & Semetko, 2003) and voting choice (e.g., Van Spanje et al., 2014). Third, both the content and the tone will be compared across time as previous research has shown that key events tend to increase the number of articles in the news agenda (e.g., Peter & De Vreese, 2004; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006) and also play a role in the use of content frames (Scheufele, 2006; Geiß, Weber & Quiring, 2016) and tone (e.g., Gortner & Pennebaker, 2003). Fourth, both the content and the tone will be compared across news outlets of a different political profile as media, alike political parties, could mediate "cues" and play a role in the perceived costs and benefits of the EU and its evaluations (Carey & Burton, 2004:638; see Norris, 2000a). Then, the political profile of media outlets will be discussed for their potential to affect the content and tone of the media coverage for the EU. The main research question of this study is:

RQ: What is the content and tone of Greek media coverage describing the European Union during the 2019 European Parliamentary election period?

In investigating the media coverage, the study formulates four sub questions:

- 1. What is the content of the media coverage of the EU?
- 2. What is the tone of the media coverage of the EU?
- 3. Do content and tone change across time due to key events?
- 4. Do content and tone differ per media outlet?

#### 1.3. Scientific and societal relevance

On the basis that media coverage matters for its potential to influence public perceptions for the EU (e.g., Schuck & De Vreese, 2006:22; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003), many scholars already investigated the actual content of media coverage of EU news across different countries (e.g., De Vreese et al., 2006), in times involving important events for the EU (e.g., Peter et al., 2004) and in routine coverage (Peter & De Vreese, 2004). While all this work offers a valuable understanding of how the EU is seen, to the best of my knowledge, there is no study focusing on the current presentation of the EU due to the challenges of economic and immigration crisis (with the exception of Cremonesi et al., 2019 who addressed the Europeanization of Italian media). As Hutter and Kriesi (2019) and Cremonesi et al. (2019) state, the policies implemented by the EU can increase the role of the EU in the public debates and can play an important role for its perceived evaluation. Those characteristics make the time and country setting important (e.g. De Vreese & Azrout,

2019). Drawing upon previous content analyses, the present study will aim to investigate the current presentation of the EU in the media coverage of 2019 by focusing on the case of Greece.

Societally, because the EU policies, like the imposition of austerity measures, can play a role in the way citizens view the European Union (Cremonesi et al., 2019; Hutter & Kriesi, 2019), the fact that citizens of a country with complex relations with the EU, here Greece, tend to report different opinions across time makes the media coverage important to explore. Is the media coverage in line with the (low) positive image and attitude of Greeks toward the EU (European Commission & European Parliament, 2019)? The current paper will aim to fill this void by focusing on the presentation of the EU in the media coverage of the Greek media during the 2019 EP elections. Although the study focuses on one case study, the results are not less interesting. One could compare the findings from the current content analysis with previous studies focusing on a different time period so as to see if the patterns before and after the economic recession are similar; or the results could be compared with other countries where the EU had a central role in the public debates.

The present paper will be structured as follows: First, in the theoretical framework (chapter 2) framing will be addressed as a technique of the media to influence public opinion by providing templates of thought, followed by examples of how framing has been studied in the EU context. With this discussion of literature as background, the predefined frames of benefits and disadvantages, and the tone will be discussed. This is followed by two sections focusing on the key events and the political profile of newspapers for their potential to influence the content and tone of the media coverage. Next is the section of methods and data that were used for this study (chapter 3), followed by the results (chapter 4) and discussion (chapter 5).

## 2. Theoretical framework

## 2.1. Media framing: definition, effect and types

Media coverage is likely to affect public opinion by the way news are framing a certain issue (Nelson et al., 1997:225). Framing refers to "emphasizing some aspects of a problem [that] can put people in mind of a very different consideration (Price et al., 1997)" in general or of "a [...] problem definition, causal interpretation, moral evaluation and/or treatment recommendation" (Entman, 1993) in particular. Framing is acknowledged to "organize the world both for journalists who report it and, to some important degree, for us who rely on their reports" (Gitlin, 2003:7). That means there are two dimensions to take into account; what media (the journalists) do and how receivers perceive this information (cf. Valkenburg et al.,1999; De Vreese, 2005a). The first dimension reveals how journalists look at the world around them, what they consider as worth sharing (Chong & Druckman, 2007:100) and also the relationship between the issues that are discussed (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003:363). The second dimension refers to the audience of those media frames and how they respond to the presentation (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003). That does not mean that all

individuals reply to news information in the same way (e.g., Levin et al., 1998) neither that everybody is exposed to all frames that journalists use to present their issues. However, at an aggregate level, as Vliegenthart, Schuck, Boomgaarden and De Vreese (2008:418; Chong & Druckman, 2007b) assume, frames in communication are likely to influence individuals' opinions and attitudes.

With news frames, individuals are able to "locate, perceive, identify and label" (Goffman in Semetko & Valkenburg, 2000:94) an issue. Trying to provide a definition of media frames, the literature does not conclude to an overarching or most common definition (e.g., Druckman, 2001; Nelson et al., 1997). There are however two main angles that define media frames; their nature and their function. Nature could refer to what the frames are; in a broader definition they could be understood as "schemata" in general (Entman, 1991:7; Scheufele, 2006); or in particular, as "coherent packages of information" (Schuck et. al, 2006: 6) giving meaning to a certain event (Gamson et al., 1987, 1989). This information could be linguistic or audiovisual in format (e.g., words, metaphors, images) that might exist in a news story (Gamson & Modigliani, 1989; Tankard, 2001; Deetz et al., 2000). The "cold war" frame is a telling example, which was much used to indicate the conflict between two major superpowers but also to cover stories of international news involving polarization between friends and enemies (Hertog & McLeod, 2001; Norris, 1995). So, frames are not just the information they contain but also the way they classify the information and serve as patterns of interpretation (Gitlin, 2003; Scheufele, 2006:65; Gamson et al., 1989:3). As Gitlin (2003:7) states, frames are "organizing principles that are socially shared and persistent over time, that work symbolically to meaningfully structure the social world".

There are two broad categories of media frames; the generic and issue-specific frames (De Vreese, 2003, 2005a). The generic frames imply that the same schemata could describe different topics regardless of the nature or peculiarities of the topic or time (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003; De Vreese, 2005a). Their advantage is that their use can be compared across different topics, however, they lose in specificity (De Vreese, 2005a). Issue-specific frames, on the other hand, focus on the presentation of a certain object grasping on the details (De Vreese, 2005a; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003:363). In addition to the generic and issue-specific frames, stories can stress positive or negative aspects to describe an issue or object (De Vreese, 2005a: 60). To affiliate the reader with the use of the frames, the following section gives some examples of how frames were studied in the EU context.

#### 2.2. Framing the European Union

The presentation of the EU might have been the topic of many researchers studying the content of its presentation (frames) and its effect on public opinion and EU support. The five frames of responsibility, economic consequences, conflict, morality and human interest that have been developed by Semetko and Valkenburg (2000) are all examples of generic frames that have been studied in various topics. In the EU-related news, Semetko and Valkenburg (2000) found that news about Europe and European integration was covered more in terms of a problem mentioning its cause or solution (responsibility frame), or the economic consequences stemming from this problem or issue (economic

consequences frames). Other frames were identified through moral or emotional quotations (morality frame and human interest frame respectively) and conflicts between (groups of) people and institutions. In another content analysis around the period of the introduction of euro, De Vreese et al. (2001) explored the use of the two generic frames of conflict and economic consequences finding that the former was used more when the news was political or economic in general and less when the news was about the launch of euro. On a different note, generic frames could be also identified in relation to a particular event. De Vreese and Boomgaarden (2003), for example, first identified the frame of consequences of the EU summit at Nice and then clustered them by types of consequences (political-institutional, economic, social-cultural) so as to explore their effect on public support for EU enlargement.

Another group of generic frames concerns the strategic schemata (De Vreese, 2005 a, b) focusing on the political cynicism they could render. In a multimethod analysis, De Vreese (2005b) investigated their effect on cynicism toward EU politics after having identified their characteristics in the EU news: i) the use of war language, ii) winners and losers, iii) politicians' presentation and style, iv) polls and candidates standing and v) "performers, critics and audiences" (see also Jamieson as cited in De Vreese, 2005a). To further investigate their potential to boost the political cynicism toward EU politics, De Vreese and Elenbaas (2008) conducted two experiments examining three different types of strategy frames; the generic strategy, publicity and press strategy.

With issue-specific frames, on the other hand, studies gain on specificity (De Vreese, 2005a), hence getting a better insight into how the object at hand is described. In an experimental study focusing on the framing effect on the support of Serbia's EU candidacy, Lecheler et al. (2010) used two issue-specific frames while adding them a positive-negative valence; the tribunal frame and the economy frame. The economy frame referred to Serbia's EU candidacy as dependent on the country's (positive) economic growth, whereas the tribunal frame was related to the (lack of) cooperation between the country and the UN war crimes tribunal (p. 78, 92). To explain the arguments pro and against the use of issue-specific frames, both the tribunal and economy frames were associated with Serbia's particular status of EU candidacy making those schemata not applicable in other contexts. While their application aimed to understand the public support towards the EU enlargement, with the words of Hertog and McLeod (2001), it is "too easy [for researchers] finding evidence for what they are looking for".

In addition to the above groups of frames, research on the EU focused on aspects with an inherent valence aiming to explain the public attitudes toward the political institution. The inherent valence discusses if the object in question is positively or negatively presented (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003). In the work of Schuck et. al. (2006), for example, the frames were a dichotomy of opportunity and risk where evaluations, argumentation and feelings towards the EU are the items giving meaning to the risky or opportunity frame. The opportunity frame referred to the EU enlargement as a "good" scenario for Europe and the member states and vice versa when EU enlargement was presented as a risk. Similarly, in the study of De Vreese and Boomgaarden (2003), the consequences of the EU summit at Nice were first

identified and then coded in relation to their inherent valence creating the dichotomy of advantageous and disadvantageous consequences.

All in all, the above groups of frames describe the content of the media coverage in terms of how an object is described. In the current study, the focus is the content that could influence the public perceptions and attitudes towards the EU. Although generic and issue-specific frames might promote templates of thought (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003:362; Brugman et al., 2017) either in general or in association with a specific object, the current study will focus on the use of the benefit (and disadvantageous) frame as it was tested given their effect on public attitudes and voting behavior (Vliegenthart et al., 2008; Van Spanje et al., 2014; De Vreese and Boomgaarden, 2003) and that the economic rationality matters for one's support toward the EU (e.g., Gabel & Palmer as cited in Van Spanje et al., 2014; Vliegenthart et al., 2008).

#### 2.2.1. The benefit and disadvantageous frames

The benefit frame, alike the disadvantages, refers to those benefits that the EU brings to one's country (Vliegenthart et al., 2008; Van Spanje et al., 2014; also see Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010). By stressing the benefits, the frame underlines the gains of the EU for the receiver. According to the theory of self-interest, individuals might be driven by their personal interests when making decisions or forming behaviors (Miller, 1999). That practically means that where there is a benefit frame, an individual is likely to act economically rationally (Gabel & Palmer as cited in Van Spanje et al., 2014). That is because, as Inglehart (1970) argues, there is a type of feedback relationship between society and decision makers that makes people think and evaluate rationally the immediate benefits and disadvantages of this relationship. For Gabel (1998 a, b), in a different explanation, the difference between this calculation of costs and benefits comes from the different socio economic experiences an individual might have. In his work, he confirmed the importance of the utilitarian consequences alike Gabel and Palmer (cited in Vliegenthart, Schuck, Boomgaarden & De Vreese, 2008:417), for example, who also found that the personal expectations of benefits matter for one's support toward the EU.

Research reveals that the benefit frame does matter for the public support toward the EU. Based on Eurobarometer surveys, Vliegenthart et al. (2008) found that, at the aggregate level, the benefit frame did have a positive influence for peoples' benefit perceptions and EU support in general. Taking a next step, Van Spanje et al. (2014) conducted interviews before and after the 2009 EP elections showing that voters who were exposed to the benefit frame were less likely to vote a Eurosceptic party (p. 335). The disadvantageous frame, on the other hand, did not show any influence on the public support toward the EU, possibly because news tends to describe the EU in negative terms (Vliegenthart et al., 2008). Instead, it might be plausible that the often negative presentation of the EU in the news made the benefit frame to stand out and easier to be picked up (p.433; cf. Boomgaarden, 2007:173). All in all, the current study will focus on the benefit and disadvantageous frame (Vliegenthart et al., 2008) while it will also leave some room for other frames that could emerge in order to gain more insight of how the EU has been presented.

Evidence from previous studies form our expectations for the share of the frames of benefits and disadvantages. On the one hand, Vliegenthart et al. (2008) found that both frames were almost equal present in the media coverage, alike Schuck et al. (2006) found for the opportunity and risk frames of the EU enlargement. On the other hand, the disadvantages outnumbered the advantages when De Vreese and Boomgaarden (2003) analyzed the presentation of the outcomes of the EU summit at Nice. Alike, the threats coming from the Turkey's EU membership were greater than the covered benefits (De Vreese et al., 2010). This evidence seems to couple with the argument media tends to share more negative information about the EU than positive (e.g., Norris, 2000b; Schuck & De Vreese, 2006; De Vreese et al., 2006). Based on this argument and previous evidence, it seems possible that negative information like the disadvantages to be more emphasized in the media coverage.

H1: The EU is more likely to be framed in terms of disadvantages than advantages.

#### 2.3. Tone

In addition to the news frames, media coverage can also influence the way citizens view and evaluate an object by suggesting positive and negative cues (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003; De Vreese et al., 2006:483). The tone of media coverage refers to the evaluations and is often expressed as emotions or clear-cut positive and negative explicit references (synthesizing Kiousis, 2004; Schuck & De Vreese, 2006; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006:427). By suggesting a positive or negative evaluation, citizens assess the object based on the positive and negative cues that enter their minds about it (De Vreese et al., 2006: 483). In turn, citizens' evaluations are related to opinion formation, voting, or appraisal for a policy or particular candidate (Price et al., 1997:486). Van Spanje et al., (2014:341), for example, tested this hypothesis for the individuals' voting behavior and found evidence that the more negative a pro EU campaign was framed in, the more likely the voter was to go for a Eurosceptic party. Alike, in a study combining a content analysis and an experiment, De Vreese and Boomgaarden (2006) found that a consistently positive and extensive news media coverage was likely to influence respondents' attitude towards the EU enlargement.

In the EU context, the evaluations of the EU could either be dependent on the performance of the national state or independent. The latter case implies that citizens can evaluate the EU on the basis of EU policies and events independently from the performance of their nation-state (Kritzinger, 2003). In methodological terms, the tone of the media coverage for the EU is measured as the explicit evaluations of the EU and its attributes, be it its policies for example (e.g., Van Spanje et al., 2014; De Vreese et al., 2006; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006, De Vreese & Azrout, 2019). Those evaluations could be indicated by suggesting whether the EU is "good or bad" or whether the EU "is failing or succeeding in doing something" (Eberl et al., 2015; Boomgaarden, 2007:59).

The importance of tone lies is in those cases when media tend to overweight one perspective, party or candidate over the counterparts hence making media having a directional bias (Eberl et al., 2015; Norris, 2000a). According De Vreese et al. (2006), news tend to be mainly neutral, be it possibly the balanced reporting that shall characterize media (Norris, 2000a:27). The criticism towards media, however, is that they tend to share more negative information that positive (Kepplinger & Weissbecker as cited in Peter & De Vreese, 2004) for reasons that could relate to its genre (De Vreese et al., 2006; see Norris, 2000a). In the EU context, when the news is evaluative, they are more likely to be slanted towards negativity. The negative direction of EU news was found in the work of Norris (2000 a, b) who investigated the media coverage on issues related to EU, like euro, and was confirmed in later research (Schuck & De Vreese, 2006; De Vreese et al., 2006; De Vreese & Azrout, 2019)- with the exception of De Vreese and Boomgaarden (2006). Based upon the above arguments and evidence, the hypothesis formed is the following;

H2: The media coverage is more likely to cover the EU in the negative than in the positive.

#### 2.4. Key events and use of frames

Media can use various frames for the same story (Wettstein, 2011; McCombs, 2014) hence making frames shift, be replaced or remade (Scheufele, 2006:69). This shift could be either slowly during routine periods or rapidly, for example, due to key events (Scheufele, 2006) creating competing arguments (Hansen, 2007; Wettstein, 2011). With competing frames available in the media coverage, evidence from previous research shows that their effect could be limited (e.g., (Druckman, 2004; Wettstein, 2011; Sniderman & Theriault, 2004) and the individuals being exposed to these competing arguments can create their own side (Edy & Meirick, 2007:125). Drawing upon this concept, the present study will focus on the key events as a possible reason that could cause a rapid shift in their use (Scheufele, 2006).

Key events refer to a rare or unusual occurrence (Kepplinger & Habermeier, 1995:373) as they could be "extreme, rare and spectacular happenings" (Kepplinger & Habermeier, 1995:372; Critcher, 2006:227) or cultural events (Dayan and Katz, 1992 as cited in Stanyer, 2014:155; see for the distinction Katz & Liebes, 2007) like a bonfire or the Olympics respectively. By involving some sort of unexpectedness (p.372; Stanyer, 2014; Katz & Liebes, 2007), key events are observed to increase the number of news stories around them (Kepplinger & Habermeier, 1995; Stanyer, 2014). In the EU context, important key events could well be EU summits (e.g., Semetko & Valkenburg, 2000), the introduction of a new policy like euro (e.g., Semetko et al., 2000) or the EP elections (e.g., Peter et al., 2004). Likewise, previous research found evidence that EU stories seemed to receive more attention by peaking around the event periods and start fading again after the event (e.g., Peter & De Vreese, 2004; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006; Semetko & Valkenburg, 2000; De Vreese et al., 2006). So, when the event comes closer, the media agenda gives more attention to the relevant matters.

Turning to the possible impact of the key events on the content frames and tone of media coverage, the evidence from previous studies is not clear. When studying the coverage after the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers, Geiß et al. (2016) found that the way frames were used in the media was intensified, meaning that after the event the existing frame competition remained the same but increased. As explained, that could be because economic policies are related to different interests and political ideologies. In contrast, Scheufele (2006) focusing on key events related to xenophobia found that during routine coverage there was a consistency in the use of frames but shifts occurred after a key event.

After two events of xenophobic attacks, the competing frames were replaced by one predominant frame. A possible explanation for this low competition of media frames could be that the frame used might be in line with the majority of public opinions (Geiß et al, 2016: 474; Boesman et al., 2016). If, for example, events did not focus on right-wing extremism then there was a dominant frame in the news reporting. Each of those explanations might hold true in their own respect, but in the current context presupposing that the disadvantages of the EU will outweigh the benefits (see H1) because media tends to share more negative information (e.g., Norris, 2000a; Schuck & De Vreese, 2006), it might be plausible to expect a shift in the use of content frames;

H3: The content frames used by media will shift after important events related to the EU.

Concerning the tone, Gortner and Pennebaker (2003) studied the influence of a bonfire accident on the media coverage finding that the negative emotions peaked after the event and started to fade with time.

H4: The tone of the media coverage will shift after important events related to the EU.

#### 2.5. Left-leaning versus right-leaning newspapers in Greece

With studies so far informing us that the media coverage matters for their potential to influence peoples' perceptions and attitudes towards the EU (Schuck & De Vreese, 2006; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003; Vliegenthart et al., 2008), media could be seen as third organizations that, alike political parties, could mediate "cues" and play a role in the perceived costs and benefits of the EU and its evaluations (Carey & Burton, 2004:638; see Norris, 2000a:28). Evidence from previous research showed that the political and biased press in Britain could shape the public views towards the EU, especially when receivers were primed with the same messages from both political parties and partisan biased press (Carey & Burton, 2004). Despite the limited literature on the way the political profile of newspapers could affect the framing of the EU (Carey & Burton, 2004; cf. Anderson & Weymouth, 1999), in practice we see this argument by the way relevant studies of media coverage of the EU (e.g., De Vreese & Azrout, 2019; Bijsmans, 2017) select their sample for their ideological leaning. So, where media coverage can influence public perceptions, the political profile of the media could be seen as playing a role in the frames used.

Before moving to the possible impact of the political profile, it would be useful to introduce the Greek media newspapers for their partisan colors and high concentration (Iosifidis & Boucas, 2015; Papathanassopoulos, 2001b). Concentration refers to the media ownership by businessmen active in shipping, telecommunications and other sectors who turned to strengthen their ties with the political elite and create a sort of clientelism (Iosifidis & Boucas, 2015; Papathanassopoulos, 2013; see Hallin & Papathanassopoulos, 2002; Leandros, 2011). As Trantidis argues (2016; see also Lanza & Lavdas, 2000), due to the strong ties between media and political elite, "politicians were more interested in securing and preserving the privileged relations with the press barons versus the political power [...] [and this] led leaders of the two main political parties to express their desire to redefine their power relations between politics and the media". Instead of a "watchdog" (Papathanassopoulos, 2013; Iosifidis & Boucas, 2015), media's role was constrained by being more "careful in controlling the content they publish or broadcast" or being used for purposes (Iosifidis & Boucas, 2015:15). With the role, thus, as a "currency for negotiation among conflicting elites, rather than as a means of informing the public" (p.15; Papathanassopoulos, 2013:240), the media system could also be seen as competitive- as domestic politics are. Based on the importance of available information, both concentration and competition are important as they describe the available sources that the citizen has the choice to be informed from.

With respect to the distinct differences between media coverage and political parties, the study will take advantage of the ideological leaning of Greek media so as to see whether the content and tone of their media coverage differ per outlet. It is important to note, however, that their pro or anti EU stance of the media is not necessarily tied to their partisan colors (Carey & Burton, 2004); a newspaper could be pro-labor and anti-EU. The reasons behind the positions of the different parties might vary; ideology, transnational links, leadership influence, party competition, public opinion, the development of EU integration or factionalism (e.g., Johansson & Raunio, 2001). Recent evidence from the Greek party system revealed that left-leaning parties tend to have an anti-EU position and conversely, right-leaning parties to have a pro-EU position (far-right, extreme left parties and the party of PASOK that has collapsed are excluded; Katsanidou & Otjes, 2015; see also Gemenis & Dinas, 2010). Therefore, with respect to the differences between newspapers and political parties, it could be expected to find differences between the left-leaning newspapers and right-leaning newspapers;

H5: Left -leaning papers are more likely to frame the EU by emphasizing the disadvantages than the right-leaning papers.

H6: Left-leaning papers are more likely to frame the EU negatively than right-leaning papers.

## 3. Methods and data

To study the contents and tone of media coverage, a quantitative content analysis was conducted following the five steps described in the work of Chong and Druckman (2007a) and the media study developed by Piredeu (Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010). Both sources were selected as a practical and comprehensive guide so as to familiarize the researcher and reader with the coding procedure while minimizing potential mistakes, gaps in understanding or inaccuracies. In this chapter, the steps followed will be explained in the next three paragraphs. The first paragraph (3.1) will present the general setting of the object described and the period of focus. The second paragraph (3.2) will specify the sources and data used for the current study (corpus). The third paragraph (3.3) will explain

the code book used so as to identify the content and tone of the media coverage including a description of the coding process.

#### 3.1. Setting

#### 3.1.1. The object described

What is the "object" described, framed and evaluated? Entman (2004) explains that a frame is applied to an issue, an event or actor (e.g., individual leader, nation) restricting the nature of the object, while Carroll and McCombs (2003:37) specify that the object could be a public figure, corporation, institution or any "thing" there is an opinion about. In particular, the object of this thesis is the European Union as a political institution and political process. Previous research on framing the EU focused explicitly on the EU summits and their outcomes (De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003), the EU enlargement (Schuck, et. al, 2006) or a country's EU membership (e.g., for Turkey see Schuck & De Vreese, 2006:22). Vliegenthart et al. (2008), instead, examined the framing of the benefits of the EU as a process on public support and Van Spanje et al. (2014) took a step forward by examining both the benefits and the tone of the EU on voting behavior. Drawing upon the latter two studies on the EU separately, the current paper will approach the EU as a whole "institutional machinery [that] continues to produce directives, regulations and decisions" (Hooghe, 2007). That practically means that for finding the content (frames) and tone of the media coverage for the EU the analysis will take into account the descriptions of "Europe" and "European Union" (Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010: 45-46) encountering attributes of EU policies, treaties, agreements, initiatives, euro and so on. Particular events or institutions, though, were not pointed out (see Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010:51) because they are different actors. References to Troika (International Monetary Fund, European Commission and European Central Bank; for a review see Boukala & Dimitrakopoulou, 2016) or the country's allies, for example, were not treated as mentioning the EU since the terms do not explicitly refer to it. Similarly, the portrayals of EU politicians were not counted as a possible evaluation of the EU because this study understands the evaluation as an attribution to the object described and not to different objects for which there might be a different opinion about.

#### 3.1.2. Period of study

To gain insight into the portrayal of the EU in the media coverage, the study focuses on the campaign period of European Parliamentary elections since the European Union is the main actor, while the results could be compared to previous studies focusing on previous EP elections' campaigns. That said, the content analysis was conducted for news items released within the four weeks running up to the election day and the two days after. That practically means that since the election day differs per country and for Greece it was the 26th of May, the material collected were news stories published from the 26th of April to the 28th of May 2019 covering the intensified campaign period.

#### 3.2. Corpus

#### 3.2.1. Newspaper selection

To study the use of frames and tone of the media coverage, the content analysis was carried out on three national newspapers (unit of analysis): *I Kathimerini* (The Daily; a newspaper with right-leaning political orientation), *Efsyn* (Efimerida twn Syntaktwn; a quality newspaper with left-leaning orientation) and *Naftemporiki* (economic newspaper with no ideological leaning). Their selection was based on their distinct political orientation, readership and articles' availability.

The political orientation of the newspapers was determined on the basis of how they are reported and studied in previous literature either focusing on EU matters or other topics. The current research included Kathimerini for the rightleaning newspaper as it is considered conservative-liberal and often studied as a center-right or right leaning newspaper (e.g., Doudaki & Boubouka, 2019:2020; Mylonas, 2014). Efsyn, on the other hand, was chosen for its left-leaning orientation given its alignment with the radical left coalition of Syriza (e.g., Hess, 2018:157; Georgiou & Zaborowski, 2017; Zaharopoulos, 2018). Alternatives of this choice, according to previous studies, were Eleftherotypia (Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010: 12; De Vreese & Azrout, 2019:6), Ta Nea or To Vima for their orientation to the left (Zaharopoulos, 2018:57), though the first went bankrupt during the financial crisis and the archive search of the last two newspapers made it difficult to retrieve the articles desired as only 5 pages related to the EU could be loaded starting from the search date and without a filter to restrict the date. Finally, a third source was added having no ideological leaning hence serving as a point of reference or control source for the rest two newspapers. The newspaper Naftemporiki was included, despite its mediocre readership, based on the rankings provided by the Online Publishers Association of Greece (OPA) (AT Internet, 2019) for the month of May 2019 and articles' availability (e.g., when an archive search was not available (newsit) or there was not a date-restriction to identify the date of interest (e.g., newsbomb, news247,cnn.gr)).

#### 3.2.2. Article selection

A content analysis was performed on all the material published in the Greek language by the newspapers mentioned above (3.2.1) during the predefined period (28th of April to 28th of May 2019). This material was retrieved directly from the broadcaster's website and selected following and adding to the guidelines of the documentation provided by Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci and De Vreese (2010: 27-28; 44). See Table 1 for the detailed criteria of the articles' selection.

First, a keyword sketch of explicit and implicit lemmas referring to the EU was constructed based on the documentation of Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci and De Vreese (2010). Lemmas included references related to the European Union either explicitly (e.g., Europe, Brussels, EU institutions) or implicitly (e.g., EU policies, EU treaties, European elections). Because this study focuses on the presentation of the EU as a political institution, excluded from the keyword sketch were mentionings to the EU as a geographical term (p. 51), and broad terms not necessarily referring to the political institution (e.g., the term "elections" without describing whether they are European or not because there were four parallel ballots on the day of the EP elections in Greece).

Second, articles with the identified keywords were filtered by the thematic section. The news articles could appear in any column and could be all types of news (e.g., speeches, reportage, letters to the editor), with the exception of the ones traced in the section of leisure, fashion, culture and other related topics (Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci & De Vreese, 2010:27). Cartoons and pictures that are not related to the EU and do not have accompanying text were also excluded because the current study looks at the presentation of the EU as a political institution and therefore, the focus is on news published in relevant or related sections. Finally, to make sure that the EU is not peripherally covered, the current study adapted the criteria from Vliegenthart et al.'s research (2008:23) that defined at least two EU references for the inclusion of an article, whereas the current paper considered at least three due to the initial large sample collected. By applying such criteria, the implication is that some data might be missing, though, the criteria ensure that articles do not cover the EU with one or two phrases for example. See Table 1 below describing the criteria for the articles selection.

Based on the inclusion criteria described, the dataset consisted of 755 articles (duplicates excluded); 299 published in Kathimerini, 232 in Naftemporiki and 224 in Efsyn. The data was downloaded digitally and for each article a unique number in ascending order was allocated to enable its identification during the coding process.

Criterion	Explanation
Time of publication	From the 26th of April to the 28th of May 2019
Language Types of news article	Greek All articles were included regardless of the format
	<ul><li>Articles excluded:</li><li>cartoons</li><li>If only audiovisual or live streaming</li></ul>

**Table 1**: Criteria for article selection.

Lemmas related to the EU	Examples of keywords that were included:
	<ul> <li>the European Union or EU (EL: Ευρωπαϊκή Ένωση and EE),</li> <li>Brussels (EL: Βρυξέλλες),</li> <li>European Parliament (EL: Ευρωπαϊκό Κοινοβούλιο and ευρωβουλή),</li> <li>Commission (EL: Κομισιόν and Ευρωπαϊκή Επιτροπή).</li> <li>European Central Bank (ECB),</li> <li>references to other institutions or specific EU policies</li> </ul>
	Lemmas excluded:
	<ul> <li>Europe or the EU as a geographical term</li> <li>as a part of a regulation identification</li> <li>Broad terms like; <ul> <li>the reference to "elections" (in general) as there were four parallel ballots on the day of the EP elections in Greece.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Thematic section	All except:
	<ul> <li>leisure, fashion, culture, and alike.</li> </ul>
Position of the keywords	<ul> <li>Keywords presented:</li> <li>in the headline (or subheading or lead image) or the lead paragraph and;</li> <li>at least twice in the rest of the article.</li> </ul>

## 3.3. Coding procedure

## 3.3.1. Deductive and inductive coding

In order to explore the tone and contents of the media coverage for the EU, a coding scheme was developed in line with the literature discussed in the previous sections (2.2.1 and 2.3). The current study used both a deductive and an inductive approach so as to gain a better insight of how the EU has been described (Semetko & Valkenburg, 2000). The first approach concerns frames that are retrieved from theory making the analysis easily replicable and comparable (p.94). Here, the predefined frames are retrieved from the media study of Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci and De Vreese (2010) that were also found and analyzed in other research projects (e.g., Vliegenthart, Schuck, Boomgaarden & De Vreese, 2008; Van Spanje et al., 2014). Further, the internal validity is raised because the frames are predefined and coded with

closed yes-no questions that leave little space for interpretation making the coding procedure consistent, the frames easily replicable and the results comparable and thus, the validity raised.

The second approach concerns an inductive process dealing with frames that are not derived from literature but emerged during the coding. At the point where precise frames were repeatedly present in the news articles, the options were either to overlook them or to include them in the code scheme so as to gain a better insight. By integrating such frames, the advantage is to get a better feel of how the EU was presented while the external validity decreases as those frames lack comparability and replicability. To solve this problem, aspects that were subcategories of the evaluations were merged in the main categories while there is one frame that was repeated hence addressed separately. Thus, as the inductive frame is not retrieved from the literature, the study developed a close-ended question to identify its presence.

#### 3.3.2. Code book

All news articles were coded with the same codebook consisting of three parts; (1) the descriptive information of the article (date of publication, newspaper); (2) the content consisting of deductive and inductive frames; and (3) the tone of media coverage in the article (see Table 2 for the complete code book).

The first part of the code manual covered the descriptive information of the data collected including the name of the newspaper and the release date of the news article.

The second part of the codebook concerns the content of the media coverage consisting of two deductive and one inductive frames. Before turning to these frames, it would be useful at the outset to introduce that, in line with their definition as emphasized aspects (Price et al., 1997), the current study uses the frames as the unit of observation giving us the opportunity to add precision and observe how highlighted the news frames are in the media coverage. The deductive frames are retrieved from previous studies (Vliegenthart, Schuck, Boomgaarden & De Vreese, 2008; Van Spanje et al., 2014) and refer to the benefit and disadvantageous frames asking whether a country has had (or it is expected to have) any kind of benefits or losses from (being part of) the European Union. In line with the theoretical framework (2.2.1), benefits could imply both country and personal gains making receivers calculate the direct cost and benefits of the EU. Likewise, on the basis that frames are defined organizing patterns (Gitlin, 2003:7), the current study also coded the indirect benefits from the EU. To illustrate, an example could be: "the euro is first and foremost a necessity. [...] Without it [...], Europe would have returned to its divided nature, war games [and] EU member states would have been subservient to the old and new world powers like US and China respectively". Similarly, the disadvantageous frame was identified: "the strong Europe, based on Germany, colonizing [...] Balkans and of course Greece, which was used for their experimental purposes with great success", "threatened by sanctions imposed by the EU partners [...] is Greece". Excluded from coding were hypothetical scenarios: "the EU needs a finance minister having the responsibility of investing and supporting small and medium-sized enterprises across Europe. Having the funds [...]".

Next to these two frames, a third inductive frame emerged during the coding process through its frequent presence in the media coverage. It refers to the apathy and indifference of EU citizens for the political institution and its policies. In particular, the frame of indifference implies that the media coverage refers to the apathy of citizens, as well as their unawareness and hostility towards EU politics: "it is difficult to inspire the public opinion disgusted from the [EU] politics", "the interest [for the EU] had waned at a time when the European Parliament gained more and more power" and "the growing indifference to what is happening in Europe is statistically measured". These examples are all aspects referring to the lack of interest and apathy toward the EU and were summarized under the inductive frame of indifference. It is important to mention, though, that this frame is not the result of a qualitative analysis and does not represent all possible aspects that could be found in the media coverage of the three national newspapers. Instead, the indifference frame popped up due to its frequent use that was observed by the author. A subsequent review of the documentation of Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese (2010:56) revealed a frame focusing on any distance from and to the EU and not the other way around. To identify the presence of the frame, a binary yes-no question was developed drawing upon the documentation of Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese (2010).

The third part of the code book deals with the tone of the media coverage for the EU. To measure the tone, the study uses the explicit evaluations for the EU as a standard indicator because it was used in previous studies (Van Spanje et al., 2014; De Vreese et al., 2006; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006, De Vreese & Azrout, 2019) making hence the results of this study comparable. Following, thus, previous literature and the guidelines of the documentation of Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese (2010:51), the tone asks whether the story evaluates the EU and how, if this is the case. Explicit evaluations could be expressed as valence adjectives (e.g. prominising, successful, disappointing, ugly, dangerous), metaphors with an inherent valence (e.g., "the European politics have the taste of hospital food. Necessary for one's treatment, but with a bad taste") or aspects that explicitly evaluate the EU when, for example, there is an issue stating as a problem and the EU takes action (e.g., "the extra-territorial application of unilateral restrictive measures [is] contrary to the international law and the EU will draw on all appropriate measures"). The rise of Euroscepticism, the turnout to the EP elections or critical arguments (e.g., the EU shall have raised its voice or needs to become more democratic) were not counted as explicit evaluations for the EU as a political institution because they are not well specified; does "more democratic" mean that the EU is already democratic and needs to be improved or it is not at all? To find the tone in the article, first the quotations were quantified within the text and then, the sum of the evaluative arguments was expressed in a five-item scale ranking from rather negative and negative to mixed, rather positive and positive. In practical terms, articles of a positive tone consist of only positive evaluations, even when there is only one relevant reference to the EU, whereas the rather positive tone signifies that the article includes positive and negative evaluations, but the positives exceed. Similarly, the negative and rather negative tone was measured. In an analogy, the mixed tone means that there is not a bias in the article and the evaluations of the EU are equal in number (Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010:47).

Category	Sub-category	Explanation
(1) Descriptive		
	Date of release	26-30 of April
		1-28 of May
	Newspaper	Kathimerini
		Efsyn
		Naftemporiki
(2) Content frame	25	
(-,		Does the author or any kind of actor mentioned in the article
		express/argue that one's country has benefited from the EU/EC
		either generally, or specifically (or that the situation in one's
		country has improved or will [potentially] improve because of the
		EU/EC)?
		• Yes
	Benefits	• No
		Does the author or any kind of actor mentioned in the article
		express/argue that one's country has had disadvantages from the
		EU either generally or specifically (or that the situation in one's
		country has been negatively affected or will [potentially] be
	Disadvantages	negatively affected because of the EU/EC)?
		• Yes
		• No
		Does the story make any kind of reference to the indifference of
		individuals toward the EU?
		• Yes
	Indifference	• No
(3) Tone of media	a coverage	
		Does the story evaluate the EU?
		(the "EU" refers to the EU as a political institution as such, no to
		single, more specific institutions such as the EP or EC
		Negative
		Rather negative
		Balanced/mixed
		Rather positive
		Positive

**Table 2:** The code book as it was based and adapted from Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese (2010).

#### 3.3.3. Analysis and coding procedure

To analyse the data, all 755 articles collected were coded by using the software of Atlas.ti. and the coding procedure was divided into two parts: (1) a preliminary analysis to affiliate the author with the coding process and to determine the code system; (2) an analysis of the entire corpus.

The preliminary analysis dealt with the development of the code book. For this task, first a random sample of approximately 50 articles per newspaper were selected so as to familiarize the author with the coding procedure. Then, all articles were reviewed so as to decide which information would be part of the final code book, which aspects would be coded or not as a frame and tone of the article for the EU, and what would consist of the inductive frame of the indifference towards the EU. Since there is only one coder, more rounds or samples might have not been practical. Once the code book was finalized, the next step was to proceed with the analysis of the entire corpus.

## 4. Results

The goal of this study is to explore the framing content and tone of media coverage by means of frames and explicit evaluations for the EU as a political institution. The following sections report the results of the analysis per sub-question. First, the frames will be presented (4.1), followed by the tone of the EU stories (4.2) and the occurrence between frames and tone (4.3). After that, the analysis of the use of frames and tone across time (4.4) and between newspapers (4.5) will be discussed.

# 4.1. Content of media coverage: The frames of benefits, disadvantages and indifference of EU

#### citizens

The content of media coverage was expressed by means of three frames, both deductive and inductive, as they were introduced in the literature (2.2.1) and explained for their operationalization (3.3.2). The deductive frames consist of benefits and disadvantages the EU brings to a country and cover the current or future gains (or losses) a country or an actor within the country (individual, community) may receive due to its EU membership. The inductive frame deals with the indifference and unawareness of the EU citizens toward the EU and their politics. All frames were coded in terms of their frequency within the article so as to gain more precision and information of what has been emphasized.

Figure 1 below shows the share of frames expressed in frequency. The results reveal that the media coverage was more advantageous (N=278) than disadvantageous (N=84) towards the EU. In particular, approximately seven out of the ten frames indicated within the media coverage concerned the benefits, either general or personal ones. The inductive frame indicating the indifference and unawareness of EU citizens for EU politics appeared the least in the media coverage (N=54).





Figure 1: The percentage of each frame in a total of the national newspapers

What do those results mean in practice? The higher the number of a frame the higher the emphasis it receives within the media coverage making the benefit frame the most dominant frame of the analyzed newspapers. By these terms, the media coverage emphasizes that Greece has more to gain than to lose from its EU membership. Oftentimes, these gains are expressed in general terms. In a rather negative article discussing if "more Europe" is desirable, the EU was covered in terms of the issues that need to be further addressed but countries were more benefited compared to the scenario of standing alone in the political arena; "The EU integration increases the collective benefits for all EU member states". Other topics in general might concentrate on welfare or social issues such as "the right to study in any European country" or "the free movement of products, services and people". Other times, the benefits were more precise and dealt with what Greece has gained or is expected to gain in the future from the EU. Not surprisingly, there were stories that discussed the economic aspect of these benefits; for example, "1.3 billion for measures of adapartion and prevention against the threat of climate change". On the other hand, disadvantages could discuss the difficulties that overweight countries faced because of the EU measures; "the burden for the [Greek] people was great due to the reforms", "the ECA products [...] displaced our owns", "[the national politicians] would not have gone for cuttings if Europe had not told [them] so". Despite the economic nature, the disadvantages covered cultural issues; the EU "[has made] a culture by looting ours [the Greek culture]". Further to that, the media also seems to cover the indifference of individuals for the EU when saying that "the issue of Europe does not seem to excite the European voters" or "[they] feel that the EU has left them and that they are [...] to help the banks rather than their people". Overall, however, the Greek media were more advantageous towards the EU suggesting that "Greece has learned the benefits of the EU in a tough way".

### 4.2. Tone of media coverage in the article

In line with previous research (2.3), the tone of the news stories was measured as the sum of explicit evaluations of the EU and its attributes (e.g., policies, euro, EU agreements) ranking from negative to rather negative to mixed, rather positive and positive. Articles with a clear positive tone, like the clear negative one, were identified when all evaluative references were positive even if there is only one such reference. The rather positive (rather negative) tone implies that both positive and negative evaluations for the EU are present within the article but the positives outweigh, whereas the mixed tone means that slanted evaluations are in balance and equal in number within the article (Schuck, Xezonakis, Banducci, & De Vreese, 2010:47).

The findings show that the explicit references evaluating the EU were low, and in those cases where the EU was evaluated the tone was mostly positive. Namely, in the total of 755 articles analyzed, the EU was evaluated in 33% of the news stories (N=251). When the political institution was mentioned and evaluated, the media coverage seemed to cover the EU predominantly in the positive (rather positive + positive= 4% + 11% of the 755 articles) resulting in 111 news stories of positive slant. The negative slant, in contrast, was present in 13% of the total articles (rather negative + negative= 5% + 8% = 13%). A mixed evaluation was present in 5% (N=41 news stories) where the negative and positive explicit evaluations were equal. See Figure 2 for an overview.



**Figure 2:** The tone of the news articles for the EU as a political institution measured in a (rather) negative, (rather) positive and mixed scale.

"Attractive", "powerful" but "ugly, repulsive and dangerous"; these attributions are all examples evaluating the EU retrieved directly from the news stories so as to affiliate the reader with the nature of evaluations mentioned in the media coverage. For example, in an article published on the 1st of May discussing the EU employment policy, the commissioner Maryan Tissen favored the EU for its "significant progress in strengthening workers' rights". In an article of a rather positive evaluation, the guest editor questioned if the euro succeeded and made it through the challenges of the last decades. With his words, "the crisis management of the last decade was not a model of success neither for Greece nor for Europe", however "the strong common currency" and Eurozone "succeeded in preventing the worst but at the heaviest cost". On the other hand, given the many challenges the EU has to deal with, another guest editor discussed the top of the EU by characterizing it as "disappointing because [EU leaders] have moved the EU elections for a later time". With a clear negative evaluation, the leader of the Communist party in Greece highlighted his opposition with the EU by stating that Europe is not the answer for combatting far-right phenomena because the core values of the EU as such have an inherent anticommunist nature and had gone hand-by-hand with fascism. Finally, an example to distinct the (negative) evaluation with the disadvantageous frame is an article stating the losses and bads coming out of the EU (e.g., over-taxation, over-indebtedness, economic dependence, nationalism) and portraying it as "ugly, repulsive and dangerous".

#### 4.3. Occurrence between frames and tone

To better understand the content of the news coverage, the current section will take a closer look at the findings of the earlier paragraphs (4.1 and 4.2) by asking whether there is an occurrence between the use of frames and the tone of news articles. In doing so, the frequency scores of the frames used were related to the tone of news stories towards the EU at the article level. Figure 3 shows that overall articles having a more positive tone tend to emphasize the benefits more than the disadvantages and alike, articles of a more negative tone are more likely to emphasize the disadvantages than the benefits of the EU. In those cases, however, where an article has a mixed tone towards the EU, meaning equal numbers of positive and negative evaluations, the pattern is less clear but still shows the tendency to emphasize more the benefit than the disadvantageous frame compared to articles with a negative tone. As for the indifference frame pointing the apathy, there does not seem a clear pattern: articles having a rather positive, rather negative or clear negative tone indicate approximately the same emphasis on this frame.



Figure 3: The occurrence between tone and frames in the news articles.

#### 4.4. Content and tone of media coverage across time

The third sub question asks whether the use of frames and tone of news articles differ throughout the four-week coverage due to the presence of key events. To answer this question, first, the key events were marked by observing the peak periods of published articles. Figure 4 below shows the development of news stories across time. It appears that the number of articles was low in the first week of the period of study, increasing throughout the campaign period and peaking in four instances during the month of May: between the 7th-9th, the 13th-16th, 20th-24th, 26th-27th.



Figure 4: The number of publications that refer to the EU across the four-week media coverage.

This study draws upon previous research in the EU context finding that EU stories tend to receive more attention by peaking around the event periods and start fading again after the event (e.g., Peter & De Vreese, 2004; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006; Semetko & Valkenburg, 2000; De Vreese et al., 2006). So, the study understands that when the event comes closer, the media agenda gives more attention to the relevant matters where the EU is the main actor. Looking at the news stories published in the indicated peak days revealed four events related to the EU. The first event concerns the informal meeting in Sibiu, Romania, which took place on the 9th of May. During the event, heads of states discussed the goals and priorities for the future of the Union, while a prominent issue was the Turkish threatening behavior within the exclusive economic one of Cyprus (see European Council, 2019). A second event that was identified is the debate of the candidates for the Commission presidency on the 15th of May which was an opportunity for the candidates to express their views on the next steps for the EU. Third, there was a report of the Hellenic Federation of Entreprises (SEV) emphasizing the benefits for Greece from its EU membership (see Hellenic Federation of Entreprises, 2019). Although the report of SEV does not seem an event itself because it is not a spectacular happening that the definition of the key events implies (Kepplinger & Habermeier, 1995; see section 2.4), the publication addresses the importance of the EU and the benefits of the country's EU membership. Finally, the fourth event of the last days of investigation could be the EP elections itself.

In order to answer the question, the study divided all news articles by their date of publication allowing us to see the day to day differences of the use of frames (4.4.1) and tone (4.4.2) across the period of study.

#### 4.4.1. The news frames across time

Figure 5 provides an overview of the day to day differences in the use of frames. In line with the definition of news frames as emphasized aspects, the total number of frames indicated in an article determined the content emphasized in that date of publication. So, the presence of frames per day is expressed as the sum of frames used in the articles published on that particular day.

The results depict the consistency in the development of frames, with the exception of a few cases. It appears that there are four different peak periods where frames are emphasized in the media coverage and all four occurred during the coverage in May; the 8th-10th, the 15th-17th, 20th-23th, 26th-28th. In particular, on the days between the 8th and the 10th of May, for example, 15% of the frames were present. Alike is their share on the 26th-28th of May (13,7%) and the days after presidential debate on the 15th-17th of May (12,7%). A sharp increase in the use of frames is observed in the days prior to the EP elections when the report of SEV was covered. If we consider these occurrences as key events, it could be possible to explain the increase of the use of frames during these periods given that previous evidence reveals that events could influence the content of the media coverage (see the section 2.4).

Descending to each frame separately, the results reveal that the benefit frame was present throughout the period of study but was emphasized in different degrees. Particularly, alike the disadvantageous frame, the benefit frame was concentrated around key events by being more emphasized in the beginning of the campaign period, in the middays of 13th-16th of May and then peaking around the Sibiu summit and the days running up to the EP elections.

While the benefit frame is predominant, as expected from the results in the previous section (4.1), there is an interplay between benefits and disadvantages the days before the EP elections where also the indifference frame was more present. Overall, the results reveal that the change in the use of frames was not a shift from benefits to disadvantages and conversely, but rather a matter of emphasis. In line with the hypothesis (H3), key events did not play a role in the use of frames- with the exception of the EP election day.



**Figure 5:** The emphasis of content frames (benefits, disadvantages and indifference) across the four-week media coverage.

#### 4.4.2. The tone of media coverage across time

To observe the differences of the evaluations of the EU in the media coverage, Figure 6 shows how the categories of mixed, total positive (rather positive + positive), total negative (rather negative + negative) developed across time. The results reveal that news stories were predominantly positive with few occurrences of clear negative or mixed articles across time (e.g., 29.4, 5.5, 19.5, 22.5). Where the favorable news stories peaked on the 9th of May, they presented fluctuations across time ending up being equal (low) with the unfavorable news stories on the day of EP elections. Unalike, the share of news stories with a clear unfavorable evaluation was lower, yet there was a U curve between the Sibiu meeting and EP elections day.



Date of article publication

**Figure 6:** The number of news stories evaluating the EU in the mixed, total positive (rather positive + positive) and total negative (rather negative and negative) across the four-week coverage.

#### 4.5. Content and tone per newspaper

The findings up to this point showed the share of news frames in the media coverage and the share of the positive and negative evaluations of the EU for the last four weeks leading to the EP elections. This section will focus on the distribution of the content and tone across newspapers with different political orientations. At the outset, it might be important to recall that the political orientation of the newspapers was based on left-right lines lying on their party-leaning as it is a standard indicator that was used for the newspaper selection in previous studies (e.g., De Vreese & Azrout, 2019; Bijsmans, 2017). To compare the content and tone of media coverage across newspapers, the section will be split into two parts discussing each topic separately.

#### 4.5.1. The use of frames across newspapers

Figure 7 displays the commonalities and differences of the use of frames across the different newspapers. The first commonality is that all three newspapers covered the EU first in terms of benefits, second in terms of the disadvantages and then, followed the frame of citizens' indifference. The second commonality is the almost equal and low emphasis of

the disadvantageous and the indifference frames. For all three papers, the disadvantageous frame had almost the same sheer number of references with the indifference frame, yet it was more visible in the news coverage. The pattern was slightly different in the case of Efsyn where the disadvantages were clearly more emphasized (n= 45 disadvantages versus n=19 for the indifference frame).



Figure 7: The emphasis of content frames (benefits, disadvantages and indifference) compared by newspaper.

The differences concern the in-between distribution of the frames for each newspaper. The first difference is that the current or future gains of the EU for a country appear more in the articles of Kathimerini and Naftemporiki than in Efsyn. Although the alike share of frames in the former two newspapers (n=166 and 127 respectively), the sheer number of frames indicated show that Naftemporiki is likely to emphasize the benefits of the EU approximately seven times more than its disadvantages (n= 102 and n= 14 respectively), while in Kathimerini benefit frames are five times more with respect to the total number of the emphasized frames in this newspaper (n=117 for the benefits and n=25 for the disadvantages). In Efsyn, on the other hand, the analogy benefit-disadvantages is less than two to one (n=59 versus n=45). By these means, it is more likely to find an article presenting the benefits in Naftemporiki or Kathimerini rather than in Efsyn. Finally, the indifference of individuals for the EU and its attributes was the least emphasized, yet it was more visible in Kathimerini (n=24), followed by Efsyn (n=19) and Naftemporiki (n=11).

#### 4.5.2. The tone of the media coverage across newspapers

Turning to the tone of the news articles, the results reveal that two out of the three newspapers covered the EU more in the positive, followed by the negative slant and then in the mixed. In the total of 755 articles, the number of articles with a total positive tone of the independent Naftemporiki (positive + rather positive = 4% + 1%) was higher than the total negative (negative + rather negative = 2%+1%); this pattern was also found in the right-leaning Kathimerini (positive + rather positive= 5%+1%). The left-leaning, Efsyn, on the other hand, deviated by emphasizing more the negative aspects describing the EU (negative + rather negative= 4% + 2%). Figure 6 offers an overview of the distribution of the articles with an evaluative tone toward the EU. Finally, it seems that mixed articles that consisted of equal positive and negative evaluations were low and approximately equal in number across all newspapers.



**Figure 8**: The percentages of news stories evaluating the EU in the (rather) negative, mixed, and (rather) positive per newspaper.

## 5. Discussion and conclusions

#### 5.1. Main findings and interpreting the results

The goal of the current study was to explore the presentation of the EU in the media coverage of 2019 European Parliamentary elections by focusing on two elements of the media coverage; the content by means of frames and the tone referring to the explicit evaluations of the EU in the news articles. The study concentrates on the case of Greece as a country where the EU, one could argue, was a main actor. Since, to the best of my knowledge, there is no information about the current portrayal of the EU the current study aimed to fill this void. In doing so, 755 news articles were retrieved and analyzed from three national newspapers of a distinct political orientation (left-leaning, right-leaning, independent). Further, and given the event of EP elections, the study focuses on the last four weeks running to the EP elections day including four EU events; the informal meeting at Sibiu, the presidential debate, the report published by the Hellenic Federation of Entreprises (SEV) highlighting the gains of the country from its EU membership, and finally the European Parliamentary elections day.

Following prior research, the study investigated the content of the media coverage by using the frames of benefits and disadvantages (Vliegenthart, Schuck, Boomgaarden & De Vreese, 2008) while adding the inductive frame of the indifference of citizens towards the EU. The content frames were measured as emphasized aspects in line with the definition of Price et al., (1997) and therefore, were coded in terms of their frequency within the article. Our expectation (H1) was based on previous results (e.g., De Vreese et al., 2010, De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2003) while hypothesizing that a negative tone that would be predominantly present would drive the negative frame of disadvantages. The results, however, inform us that the benefits reported clearly outweighed the disadvantages making the hypothesis (H1) to be rejected. A possible explanation could be contextual and national factors (e.g., Anderson, 2017) that could influence the framing of the EU. To illustrate, during the economic recession that started in 2008, three financing packages were offered by EU creditors so as to improve the financial situation in Greece. It might be that, despite the imposition of austerity measures, the benefits were greater to handle and improve the economic situation in Greece.

Concerning the evaluations of the EU, the share of the news articles with an evaluative tone in the media coverage was low. Specifically, the EU was explicitly evaluated in 33% of the 755 articles making the result in line with the findings of prior studies (De Vreese et al., 2006; Van Spanje et al., 2014). One could argue that clear statements of whether an actor, be it the European Union in this study, is good and performs well, or badly, might not be easy to find (Boomgaarden, 2007:59) compared to evaluations of a process (cf. Schuck et. al.; 2006). Looking at the tone for the EU, the results do not conform with the second hypothesis (H2) revealing an overall balance between positive and negative evaluations, yet slightly titled towards the positive. Our expectation was that the evaluations for the EU would follow the argument of negative news (Kepplinger & Weissbecker as cited in Peter & De Vreese, 2004) and the findings from prior studies (e.g., Norris, 2000a; De Vreese et al., 2006; De Vreese & Azrout, 2019), however our results were contraire. The fact that there was a balance between the positive and negative evaluations and not a clear bias seems to confirm that the media tend to be neutral (De Vreese et al.; 2006). In practice, that means citizens are exposed to a roughly balanced reporting. Interestingly, if we compare the tone for the EU and the use of frames (see for example sections 4.4.1 and 4.4.2 for the figures 5 and 6). On the one hand, there is a clear bias in terms of the use of benefit frame and on the other hand, the tone is roughly mixed, with positive evaluations to be almost equal in number as the negative ones. The figure 3 showing the occurrence between frames and tone (section 4.3) informs us that articles with a positive tone might emphasize the benefits, and vice versa for the negative tone and disadvantages. These findings suggest that the evaluations for an actor might be possibly different, or one could say, to some extent independent from the frames and future research might clarify whether this observation holds true.

The third and fourth hypotheses were of a clear exploratory nature since there is limited information on frames and tone of media coverage developed across time due to EU key events. Previous research on EU news demonstrated that the number of articles was increased when EU events were close (e.g., Peter & De Vreese, 2004; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006; Semetko & Valkenburg, 2000). Drawing upon this indicator, the study marked four events related to the EU in order to show whether the content frames and tone could shift when there is a preceding event. In the case of framing content, our hypothesis was built upon evidence from previous research suggesting that after an event occurrence there would be a low competition and a shift (Scheufele, 2006). Our findings indeed indicate a low competition showing the predominance of the benefit frame however this low frame competition was also present before the EU happenings, hence there was no shift in the use of frames after an EU event. Instead, the news stories seemed to emphasize more the frame already used. Exception to this was the news of the days before and after the EP elections (the 25th-27th of May) where both benefits and disadvantages were almost equally present and the frame of indifference was more emphasized. These observations stand in the middle of our expectations hence partially confirming our hypothesis (H3). One possible explanation might be that media does not necessarily reframe or replace the frames already used (cf. Scheufele, 2006) but they could rely on them because they are more familiar to their audiences or because their sources of information also use these frames to describe a certain issue or object (cf. Boesman et al., 2016).

In the case of tone, the hypothesis (H4) was confirmed for all four marked events despite the different volume of evaluative articles. We see, for example, that at the time of the meeting in Sibiu where heads of states discussed the goals and future of the European Union, the tone was clearly positive but the next couple of days was replaced by a (low) volume of negative articles. The opposite was observed before and after the EP elections where the tone was clearly negative on the 26th of May and then has shifted to positive. Similar shifts were observed on the days of the candidates' debate and the publication of the report of SEV. This finding indicates that the key events could possibly play a role in the way journalist evaluate an actor. However, there is limited evidence from previous studies to support such an argument and more data need to be collected and more research around the tone and use of frames in relation with EU events.

Finally, content and tone were compared across newspapers of a different political profile. Our expectation (H5) was that the use of frames would differ between left-leaning and right-leaning newspapers and indeed the results confirmed this hypothesis: the left-leaning newspaper of Efsyn emphasized more the disadvantages of the EU than the newspapers of the independent Naftemporiki and right-leaning Kathimerini. Similarly, the news stories of Efsyn were more likely to cover the EU in the negative than the right-leaning and independent newspapers confirming our expectation (H6). These findings suggest that the political profile of a media outlet could play a role in the framing of the EU compared to outlets of a different political orientation, but they do not explain however the similar patterns of tone and framing content in
all newspapers. For example, the left-leaning Efsyn tends to use more frequently the losses to discuss the EU compared to other newspapers but did not emphasize more the disadvantages than the benefits. That practically means that the left-leaning newspaper shared the same pattern with the other newspapers in terms of the emphasized frames, though to a lesser extent. The right-leaning Kathimerini and independent Naftemporiki also share the same patterns regarding the tone and frames. A reason to explain this result might be that a predominant frame, like in this case the benefit frame, might be already familiar to the newspapers and socially established (cf. Boesman et al., 2016) so media might rely on previously used frames to report and frame the EU. Future research could investigate which factors could possibly explain the reason why media tend to frame the EU in a certain light.

## 5.2. Limitations and suggestions for future research

Although this study draws upon previous research to explore the media coverage of the EU, it would be important to take into consideration some limitations before interpreting the current results. First, concerning the object of focus as such, the current study focused on the media coverage discussing the EU as a political institution without pointing out a single institution or EU leader. In methodological terms, that means that the EU needed to be explicitly mentioned otherwise the evaluation could well be for a topic related to the EU but not for the EU as such. That is because, as discussed in previous sections (3.1.1), different actors might render different evaluations and perceptions not necessarily in relation to the object they are attached to. However, by approaching the EU as a whole, the study might lose some data in the expense of being more focused on the main objective. Future research could differentiate and explore the portrayals of different actors that are related to the European Union.

Second, looking at the means used to explore the media coverage, the study focused on the tone by means of evaluations of the EU and on two deductive and one inductive frame. The benefit (and disadvantageous) frame was selected for the reason of its possible effect on public attitude and voting behavior (Vliegenthart et al., 2008; Van Spanje et al., 2014; De Vreese & Boomgaarden,2003) but it does not take into account other aspects that could sketch the portrayal of the European Union. To the best of my understanding, other aspects or attributes bearing a certain evaluation for the EU are largely unexplored and thus, by no means, these frames reveal all possible reasons for giving a positive or negative evaluation to the EU. To dissolve this, a possible approach could be an inductive analysis for all news articles in order to identify the aspects or argumentation that are used to describe the EU.

A third limitation concerning the content frames is that the current study focused on reporting which aspects were more and less emphasized but neglected the content of the frames discussed. Future research could further investigate the content of the frames used by asking: what are the benefits and disadvantages discussed in the EU news? Are the economic outcomes the benchmark or there are other types of benefits and drawbacks greatly emphasized? Do those benefits (and disadvantages) apply more to countries, EU citizens or other entities like firms? The same argument also holds true for the tone and future research could go a step forward by investigating what the positive and negative evaluations explicitly referring to the EU. Another possible investigation is to explore whether the use of frames is related with the tone of the article: Could it be that articles emphasizing benefits are also evaluating the EU positively?

A fourth limitation stems from the methodological approach as there were only three newspapers investigated for their content frames and tone. Initially, newspapers are just one source of information with a declined readership making the assumed role of the media on public perceptions and attitudes limited. However, the data selected enabled the comparison of the current findings with previous research. Additionally, having three papers as database might limit the generality of the results but the goal of the current study was exploratory and aimed to see whether the political profiles of the newspapers could play a role in the portrayal of the EU in the media coverage. Future research could further expand the dataset to other information providers, public and private commercial outlets, whether those could be newspapers, television programs, radio or social media.

Part of the methodological limitations is also the identification of the key events. In particular, four events related to the EU were found after having first marked the peak periods of the media coverage. If the EU news tend to be cyclical by peaking around important events related to the EU as previous evidence suggested (e.g., Peter & De Vreese, 2004; De Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006), then each of the events identified in this study could logically make sense for driving the attention of the media coverage. However, it could well be possible that there are other reasons or other events that could play a role in the attention of the media coverage. Future research could as well identify the key events by conducting a qualitative analysis independently from the data collected. This, in turn, would help us to see whether there is a causal relationship between key events and the use of content frames and tone.

Another limitation worth mentioning is that the results are built upon the media coverage of a single country and one case study cannot draw a conclusion as per how the EU has been presented. The advantage of focusing on a country with complex relations with the EU, though, is that findings could be compared to other countries that have been bailed out or were not affected by the financial crisis.

Finally, it is important to note that the current research focused on the content frames and tone of media coverage due to its potential to influence public perceptions but did not go further to the effect of this media coverage to the receivers of the EU news. The current findings suggested that there is a mildly positive tone throughout most of the period of study, while the benefit frame is predominant and consistent. We do not know however if the media coverage did play a role in the perceived (low) positive image of EU (European Commission & European Parliament, 2019). Based on previous studies finding that the most prominent frame in the media coverage tended to affect the public opinion (Schuck & De Vreese, 2006:22; see also Levin, Schneider & Gaeth, 1998:164; Levin, 1987), future research could investigate the predominant benefit frame, alike the mildly positive tone, is also apparent to public perceptions when receivers are exposed to such framing.

## 5.3. General conclusions

By asking the content frames and tone of the media coverage, the current paper reveals some interesting and some intriguing results. The first general conclusion is that the media coverage can indeed change across time between different time periods (see De Vreese & Azrout, 2019:20). Previous studies looking at the presentation of the European Union during the EP elections found that the Greek news were predominantly negative (De Vreese et al., 2006; De Vreese & Azrout, 2019) but this study showed an overall balanced, yet mildly positive media coverage. This finding seems to be in line with the low positive attitude of Greeks towards the EU and the shift of its perceived image from negative to positive that Eurobarometer reveals (European Commission & European Parliament, 2019; European Commission, 2019).

The second interesting result concerns both the tone and content frames. Where the study found few articles that explicitly evaluate the European Union and their slant was mildly optimistic, the media coverage showed that the benefits of a country, either current or future ones, clearly outweigh any possible disadvantages. Frames of losses and the apathy and indifference of citizens towards the institution are low in emphasis making the benefit frame predominant. Interestingly, these patterns concerning the use of frames and tone of media coverage were also visible across most of the last four-week period heading to the EP elections. Chronological timelines depict the day-to-day differences in the content and tone showing that key events did not shift the use of frames but rather intensified the existing frame competition. That practically means that, if one looks only in the campaign period, the media highlight that Greece has more to gain than to lose from the EU membership and this could be seen as a statement worth emphasizing.

Finally, the study found the political profile of the newspapers used might play a role on the way the media reported and evaluated the European Union. We see, for example, that the differences between the independent and right-leaning papers were marginal, but the left-leaning outlet was more likely to cover the EU in the negative and emphasize the losses coming from the European Union.

## References

- Anderson, C. (2017). Mediating the Message in the 21st Century. *Journal Of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 61(1), 185-186. doi: 10.1080/08838151.2016.1273934
- Anderson, P. J. and Weymouth, A. (1999) Insulting the Public? The British Press and the European Union. Harlow: Longman. Available at: <u>https://books.google.nl/books?hl=el&lr=&id=Ck2gBAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&ots=hL5EWIOLoP&sig=upupPEVJ</u>

LLWR4pxgLKka5ymmrTQ&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

AT Internet. (2019). 2019-May. excel. Available at: http://www.ened.gr/statistika-melon/

- Banducci, S., A., & Semetko, H., A. (2003). Media, Mobilisation and European Elections. presentation made at the Conference on European Public Opinion and the 2004 European Parliament Elections, Paul Henri Spaak Building, The European Parliament, Brussels, Belgium. Available at: https://www.ucd.ie/dempart/brusselsconference/presentations/amsterdamtext.pdf
- Berganza, R. (2009). Framing the European Union and Building the Media Agenda: The 2004 European Parliamentary Elections in the Spanish Daily Press. *Journal Of Political Marketing*, *8*(1), 59-69. doi: 10.1080/15377850802605973
- Bijsmans, P. (2017). EU Media Coverage in Times of Crisis: Euroscepticism Becoming Mainstream? In Caiani M., Guerra S. (Eds), *Euroscepticism, Democracy and the Media* (pp. 73-94). Palgrave Studies in European Political Sociology.
   Palgrave Macmillan, London. doi: 10.1057/978-1-137-59643-7\_4. Available at: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1057%2F978-1-137-59643-7.pdf
- Boesman, J., Berbers, A., d'Haenens, L., & Van Gorp, B. (2016). The news is in the frame: A journalist-centered approach to the frame-building process of the Belgian Syria fighters. *Journalism: Theory, Practice & Criticism, 18*(3), 298-316. doi: 10.1177/1464884915610988
- Boomgaarden, H.G. (2007). *Framing the others: news and ethnic prejudice*. Dissertation manuscript, University of Amsterdam. Available at: <u>https://dare.uva.nl/search?identifier=0536b983-261c-4eca-9a97-70587dccf4e8</u>
- Boukala, S., & Dimitrakopoulou, D. (2016). The politics of fear vs. the politics of hope: analysing the 2015 Greek election and referendum campaigns. *Critical Discourse Studies*, *14*(1), 39-55. doi: 10.1080/17405904.2016.1182933

- Brugman, B., Burgers, C., & Steen, G. (2017). Recategorizing political frames: a systematic review of metaphorical framing in experiments on political communication. *Annals Of The International Communication Association*, 41(2), 181-197. doi: 10.1080/23808985.2017.1312481
- Carey, S., & Burton, J. (2004). Research Note: The Influence of the Press in Shaping Public Opinion towards the European Union in Britain. *Political Studies*, *52*(3), 623-640. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9248.2004.00499.x
- Carroll, C., & McCombs, M. (2003). Agenda-setting Effects of Business News on the Public's Images and Opinions about Major Corporations. *Corporate Reputation Review*, 6(1), 36-46. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.crr.1540188
- Chong, D., & Druckman, J. (2007a). Framing Theory. *Annual Review Of Political Science*, 10(1), 103-126. doi: 10.1146/annurev.polisci.10.072805.103054
- Chong, D., & Druckman, J. (2007b). Framing Public Opinion in Competitive Democracies. *American Political Science Review*, *101*(4), 637-655. doi: 10.1017/s0003055407070554
- Chong, D., & Druckman, J. (2007c). A Theory of Framing and Opinion Formation in Competitive Elite Environments. *Journal Of Communication*, 57(1), 99-118. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00331.x
- Cremonesi, C., Seddone, A., Bobba, G., & Mancosu, M. (2019). The European Union in the media coverage of the 2019 European election campaign in Italy: towards the Europeanization of the Italian public sphere. *Journal Of Modern Italian Studies*, *24*(5), 668-690. doi: 10.1080/1354571x.2019.1681686
- Critcher, C. (2006). *Moral panics and the media*. Maidenhead: Open University Press. Retrieved from: <u>https://books.google.nl/books?id=BWf4AAAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover&hl=el#v=onepage&q&f=false</u>
- De Vreese, C. (2003). Framing Europe: television news and European integration. Amsterdam: Aksant
- De Vreese, C. (2005a). News framing: Theory and typology. Information Design Journal, 13, 51-62
- De Vreese, C. (2005b). The Spiral of Cynicism Reconsidered. *European Journal Of Communication*, 20(3), 283-301. doi: 10.1177/0267323105055259
- De Vreese, C., & Azrout, R. (2019). *The 2014 European Parliamentary Elections in the News: Report, data and documentation*. Amsterdam: University of Amsterdam. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.polcomm.org/wp-content/uploads/The-2014-EP-Elections-in-the-News\_v010419.pdf">https://www.polcomm.org/wp-content/uploads/The-2014-EP-Elections-in-the-News\_v010419.pdf</a>
- De Vreese, C., & Boomgaarden, H. (2003). Valenced news frames and public support for the EU. *Communications*, *28*(4). doi: 10.1515/comm.2003.024
- De Vreese, C., & Boomgaarden, H. (2006). Media Effects on Public Opinion about the Enlargement of the European Union\*. *JCMS: Journal Of Common Market Studies*, 44(2), 419-436. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-5965.2006.00629.x

- De Vreese, C., & Elenbaas, M. (2008). Media in the Game of Politics: Effects of Strategic Metacoverage on Political Cynicism. *The International Journal Of Press/Politics*, *13*(3), 285-309. doi: 10.1177/1940161208319650
- De Vreese, C., Banducci, S., Semetko, H., & Boomgaarden, H. (2006). The News Coverage of the 2004 European Parliamentary Election Campaign in 25 Countries. *European Union Politics*, 7(4), 477-504. doi: 10.1177/1465116506069440
- De Vreese, C., Boomgaarden, H., & Semetko, H. (2010). (In)direct Framing Effects: The Effects of News Media Framing on Public Support for Turkish Membership in the European Union. *Communication Research*, *38*(2), 179-205. doi: 10.1177/0093650210384934
- De Vreese, C., Jochen Peter, Holli A, C. (2001). Framing Politics at the Launch of the Euro: A Cross-National Comparative Study of Frames in the News. *Political Communication*, *18*(2), 107-122. doi: 10.1080/105846001750322934
- Deetz, S.A., Tracy, S.J. & Simpson, J.L. (2000). *Leading organizations. Through Transition*. London, Thousand Oaks: Sage. Available at: <u>https://books.google.nl/books?hl=el&lr=&id=-</u> <u>9nsCQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR10&dq=Leading+organizations.+Through+Transition.+London,+Thousand+Oaks:+S</u> age.&ots=2LvXxulg m&sig=M25JCezbs4LhGsHvC6eT7yhJee4#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Doudaki, V., & Boubouka, A. (2019). Discourses of Legitimation in the News. doi: 10.4324/9780429061325
- Druckman, J. (2004). Political Preference Formation: Competition, Deliberation, and the (Ir)relevance of Framing Effects. *American Political Science Review*, *98*(4), 671-686. doi: 10.1017/s0003055404041413
- Druckman, J. N. (2001). The implications of framing effects for citizen competence. *Political Behavior*, *23*(3), 225-256. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015006907312
- Eberl, J., Boomgaarden, H., & Wagner, M. (2015). One Bias Fits All? Three Types of Media Bias and Their Effects on Party Preferences. *Communication Research*, 44(8), 1125-1148. doi: 10.1177/0093650215614364
- Edy, J., & Meirick, P. (2007). Wanted, Dead or Alive: Media Frames, Frame Adoption, and Support for the War in Afghanistan. *Journal Of Communication*, *57*(1), 119-141. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00332.x
- Elytis, O. (1999). Εκ του πλησίον [From close by]. Athens, Greece: Ikaros
- Entman, R. (1991). Framing U.S. Coverage of International News: Contrasts in Narratives of the KAL and Iran Air Incidents. *Journal Of Communication*, *41*(4), 6-27. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.1991.tb02328.x

Entman, R. (1993). Framing: Toward Clarification of a Fractured Paradigm. *Journal Of Communication*, 43(4), 51-58. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01304.x. Retrieved from: <u>https://is.muni.cz/el/1423/podzim2018/POL256/um/Entman\_1993\_FramingTowardclarificationOfAFracturedPar</u> <u>adigm.pdf</u>

- Entman, R. (2004). *Projections of power*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. Available at: https://books.google.nl/books?id=zXOieN3RW80C&printsec=frontcover&hl=el#v=onepage&g&f=false
- European Commission (2014). Standard Eurobarometer 82. Public Opinion in the European Union. First results, doi:10.2775/68303. Available at: <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/44e94151-c8ae-11e5-a4b5-01aa75ed71a1/language-en</u>
- European Commission (2017a). Standard Eurobarometer 88. Media use in the European Union. doi: 10.2775/116707. Available at: <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/a575c1c9-58b6-11e8-ab41-01aa75ed71a1/language-en</u>
- European Commission (2017b). Standard Eurobarometer 92. Media use in the European Union. doi: 10.2775/80086. Available at: <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/c2fb9fad-db78-11ea-adf7-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-search</u>
- European Commission (2019): Eurobarometer 90.3 (2018). Kantar Public [producer]. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA7489 Data file Version 1.0.0, <u>https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13254.</u> Available at: <u>https://data.europa.eu/euodp/en/data/dataset/S2215\_90\_3\_STD90\_ENG</u>
- European Commission and European Parliament (2019): Eurobarometer 91.5 (2019). Kantar Public, Brussels
   [producer]. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA7576 Data file Version 1.0.0, <a href="https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13393">https://doi.org/10.4232/1.13393</a>.
   Available at: <a href="https://data.europa.eu/euodp/en/data/dataset/S2253\_91\_5\_STD91\_ENG/resource/93135eb8-2643-4a54-9605-8469bb3e1234">https://data.europa.eu/euodp/en/data/dataset/S2253\_91\_5\_STD91\_ENG/resource/93135eb8-2643-4a54-9605-8469bb3e1234</a>
- European Council. (2019). Informal meeting of heads of state or government, Sibiu, 9 May 2019. Retrieved from https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/european-council/2019/05/09/
- Federico, V., & Lahusen, C. (2018). *Solidarity as a Public Virtue?*. [Place of publication not identified]: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG.
- Gabel, M. (1998a). Public Support for European Integration: An Empirical Test of Five Theories. *The Journal Of Politics*, *60*(2), 333-354. doi: 10.2307/2647912
- Gamson, W., & Modigliani, A. (1987). The Changing Culture of Affirmative Action. In R. Braungart (Eds.), Research in Political Sociology (Vol. 3, pp. 137-177). Greenwich, CN: JAI Press. Available at: <u>https://books.google.nl/books?id=EsOecSI0H4YC&printsec=frontcover&hl=el#v=onepage&q&f=false</u>
- Gamson, W., & Modigliani, A. (1989). Media Discourse and Public Opinion on Nuclear Power: A Constructionist Approach. *American Journal of Sociology*, *95*(1), 1-37. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/2780405">http://www.jstor.org/stable/2780405</a>.

- Geiß, S., Weber, M., & Quiring, O. (2016). Frame Competition After Key Events: A Longitudinal Study of Media Framing of Economic Policy After the Lehman Brothers Bankruptcy 2008–2009. *International Journal Of Public Opinion Research*, 29(3), 471-496. doi: 10.1093/ijpor/edw001
- Gemenis, K., & Dinas, E. (2010). Confrontation still? Examining parties' policy positions in Greece. *Comparative European Politics*, 8(2), 179-201. doi: 10.1057/cep.2008.28
- Georgiou, M., & Zaborowski, R. (2017) Media coverage of the "refugee crisis": A cross-European perspective. Council of Europe report (DG1(2017)03). Council of Europe. Available at: <u>https://edoc.coe.int/en/refugees/7367-mediacoverage-of-the-refugee-crisis-a-cross-european-perspective.html</u>
- Gitlin, T. (2003). The whole world is watching. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Gortner, E., & Pennebaker, J. (2003). The Archival Anatomy of a Disaster: Media Coverage and Community-Wide Health Effects of the Texas A&M Bonfire Tragedy. *Journal Of Social And Clinical Psychology*, 22(5), 580-603. doi: 10.1521/jscp.22.5.580.22923
- Hallin, D., & Papathanassopoulos, S. (2002). Political clientelism and the media: southern Europe and Latin America in comparative perspective. *Media, Culture & Society, 24*(2), 175-195. doi: 10.1177/016344370202400202
- Hansen, K. (2007). The Sophisticated Public: The Effect of Competing Frames on Public Opinion. *Scandinavian Political Studies*, *30*(3), 377-396. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9477.2007.00185.x
- Hansen, M., Shughart, W., & Yonk, R. (2017). Political Party Impacts on Direct Democracy: the 2015 Greek Austerity Referendum. *Atlantic Economic Journal*, *45*(1), 5-15. doi: 10.1007/s11293-016-9528-0
- Hellenic Federation of Entreprises. (2019). Ευρωεκλογές 2019. Για μια ισχυρή Ελλάδα σε μια Ευρώπημε ευκαιρίες για όλους [European Elections 2019. For a strong Greece in a Europe and opportunities for all]. Retrieved from https://www.sev.org.gr/Uploads/Documents/52102/Euroekloges format final.pdf
- Hertog, J. K. and D. M. McLeod (2001). A multiperspectival approach to framing analysis: A field guide. In S. D. Reese, O.
  H. Gandy, & A. E. Grant (Eds.), *Framing public life: Perspectives on media and our understanding of the social world*. Mahwah, NJ:Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- Hess, F.L. (2018). Crisis and the Changes in the Mediascape: Greece and the Globe. In E. Doxiadis, & A. Placas (Eds.), Living Under Austerity: Greek Society in Crisis (pp. 143-160). New York, Oxford: Berghahn Books. doi:10.2307/j.ctvw04g5j. Available at: https://books.google.nl/books?id=QSpWDwAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover&hl=el#v=onepage&q&f=false
- Hooghe, L. (2007). What Drives Euroskepticism?: Party-Public Cueing, Ideology and Strategic Opportunity. *European* Union Politics, 8(1), 5–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1465116507073283</u>

- Hutter, S., & Kriesi, H. (2019). Politicizing Europe in times of crisis. *Journal Of European Public Policy, 26*(7), 996-1017. doi: 10.1080/13501763.2019.1619801
- Inglehart, R. (1970b). Public Opinion and Regional Integration. *International Organization, 24*(4), 764-795. Retrieved March 21, 2020, from www.jstor.org/stable/2706152
- Iosifidis, P., & Boucas, D. (2015). *Media Policy and Independent Journalism in Greece*, Open Society Foundations. Available at: <u>https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/publications/media-policy-and-independent-journalism-greece</u>
- Iyengar, S. (1987). Television News and Citizens' Explanations of National Affairs. *The American Political Science Review, 81*(3), 815-831. doi:10.2307/1962678
- Johansson, K., & Raunio, T. (2001). Partisan responses to Europe: Comparing Finnish and Swedish political parties. *European Journal Of Political Research*, *39*(2), 225-249. doi: 10.1111/1475-6765.00576
- KAS. (2019). Έρευνα για την Ευρώπη -Μάϊος 2019 Έρευνα καταγραφής των απόψεων για την Ευρωπαϊκή Ένωση σήμερα. Retrieved 8 June 2020, from <a href="https://www.kas.de/documents/281190/281239/20190521\_%CE%A0%CE%91%CE%A1%CE%9F%CE%A5%CE%A3">https://www.kas.de/documents/281190/281239/20190521\_%CE%A0%CE%91%CE%A1%CE%9F%CE%A5%CE%A3</a>
   <u>%CE%99%CE%91%CE%A3%CE%97+-</u>
   <u>E%CE%A5%CE%A1%CE%A9%CE%95%CE%9A%CE%9B%CE%9F%CE%93%CE%95%CE%A3+v+FINAL+short.pdf/6d7</u>
   <u>1054a-3b1a-ff45-1738-a1aedc036e12?version=1.0&t=1558451191235</u>.
- Katsanidou, A., & Otjes, S. (2015). How the European debt crisis reshaped national political space: The case of Greece. *European Union Politics*, *17*(2), 262-284. doi: 10.1177/1465116515616196
- Katz, E., & Liebes, T. (2007). 'No More Peace!': How Disaster, Terror and War Have Upstaged Media Events. International Journal Of Communication, 1(1), 10. Retrieved from <u>https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/44</u>
- Kepplinger, H., & Habermeier, J. (1995). The Impact of Key Events on the Presentation of Reality. *European Journal Of Communication*, *10*(3), 371-390. doi: 10.1177/0267323195010003004
- Kiousis, S. (2004). Explicating Media Salience: A Factor Analysis of New York Times Issue Coverage During the 2000 U.S. Presidential Election. *Journal Of Communication*, *54*(1), 71-87. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2004.tb02614.x
- Kritzinger, S. (2003). The Influence of the Nation-State on Individual Support for the European Union. *European Union Politics*, 4(2), 219-241. doi: 10.1177/1465116503004002004
- Lanza, O., & Lavdas, K. (2000). The disentanglement of interest politics: Business associability, the parties and policy in Italy and Greece. *European Journal Of Political Research*, *37*(2), 203-235. doi: 10.1111/1475-6765.00510

- Leandros, N. (2011). Structural Media Pluralism | Media Concentration and Systemic Failures in Greece. *International Journal Of Communication, 4*, 20. Retrieved from <a href="https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/795">https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/795</a>
- Lecheler, S., & De Vreese, C. (2010). Framing Serbia: the effects of news framing on public support for EU enlargement. *European Political Science Review*, 2(01), 73. doi: 10.1017/s1755773909990233
- Levin, I. (1987). Associative effects of information framing. *Bulletin Of The Psychonomic Society*, 25(2), 85-86. doi: 10.3758/bf03330291
- Levin, I., Schneider, S., & Gaeth, G. (1998). All Frames Are Not Created Equal: A Typology and Critical Analysis of Framing Effects. Organizational Behavior And Human Decision Processes, 76(2), 149-188. doi: 10.1006/obhd.1998.2804
- McCombs, M. (1977). Agenda setting function of mass media. *Public Relations Review*, *3*(4), 89-95. doi: 10.1016/s0363-8111(77)80008-8
- McCombs, M. (2014). Setting the Agenda. Hoboken: Wiley.
- McCombs, M., Lopez-Escobar, E., & Llamas, J. (2000). Setting the Agenda of Attributes in the 1996 Spanish General Election. *Journal Of Communication*, *50*(2), 77-92. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2000.tb02842.x
- Miller, D. (1999). The norm of self-interest. *American Psychologist*, 54(12), 1053-1060. doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.54.12.1053
- Mutz, D. (1992). Mass Media and the Depoliticization of Personal Experience. *American Journal Of Political Science*, *36*(2), 483. doi: 10.2307/2111487
- Mylonas, Y. (2014). Crisis, Austerity And Opposition In Mainstream Media Discourses Of Greece. *Critical Discourse Studies*, *11*(3), 305-321. doi: 10.1080/17405904.2014.915862
- Nardis, Y. (2015). News, Trust in the European Parliament, and EP Election Voting: Moderated-Mediation Model Investigating Voting in Established and New Member States. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *20*(1), 45–66. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161214556710.
- Nelson, T. E., Oxley, Z. M., & Clawson, R. A. (1997). Toward a Psychology of Framing Effects. *Political Behavior, 19(3)*, 221-246. doi:10.1023/a:1024834831093
- Nelson, T., Clawson, R., & Oxley, Z. (1997). Media Framing of a Civil Liberties Conflict and Its Effect on Tolerance. *The American Political Science Review*, *91*(3), 567-583. Retrieved March 3, 2020, from <u>www.jstor.org/stable/2952075</u>
- Norris, P. (1995). The restless searchlight: Network news framing of the post-Cold War world. *Political Communication*, 12(4), 357-370. doi: 10.1080/10584609.1995.9963084

Norris, P. (2000a). A Virtuous Circle. Political Communications in Postindustrial Societies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Available at:

https://books.google.nl/books?id=Vy7EKh3ap5oC&lpg=PP1&hl=el&pg=PP1&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

Norris, P. (2000b). Blaming the Messenger? Political Communications and Turnout in EU Elections. In *Citizen Participation in European Politics*, (pp .99-116). Demokratiutredningens skrift No. 32. Stockholm: Statens Offentliga Utredningar. Available at:

https://data.kb.se/datasets/2015/02/sou/1999/1999\_151%28librisid\_19373817%29.pdf

- Pan, Z., & Kosicki, G. (1993). Framing analysis: An approach to news discourse. *Political Communication*, *10*(1), 55-75. doi: 10.1080/10584609.1993.9962963
- Papathanassopoulos, S. (2001a). Media Commercialization and Journalism in Greece. *European Journal Of Communication*, *16*(4), 505-521. doi: 10.1177/0267323101016004004
- Papathanassopoulos, S. (2001b). The Decline of Newspapers: the case of the Greek press. *Journalism Studies*, 2(1), 109-123. doi: 10.1080/14616700120021838
- Papathanassopoulos, S. (2013). Greece: Press Subsidies in Turmoil. *State Aid For Newspapers*, 237-251. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-35691-9\_15
- Peter, J., & De Vreese, C. (2004). In Search of Europe. *Harvard International Journal Of Press/Politics*, 9(4), 3-24. doi: 10.1177/1081180x04270597
- Peter, J., Lauf, E., & Semetko, H. (2004). Television Coverage of the 1999 European Parliamentary Elections. *Political Communication*, *21*(4), 415-433. doi: 10.1080/10584600490518315
- Price, V., Tewksbury, D., & Powers, E. (1997). Switching Trains of Thought. *Communication Research*, *24*(5), 481-506. doi: 10.1177/009365097024005002

Scheufele, B. (2006). Frames, schemata, and news reporting. Communications, 31(1). doi: 10.1515/commun.2006.005

- Schuck, A. R. T., & De Vreese, C. H. (2006). Between Risk and Opportunity: News Framing and its Effects on Public Support for EU Enlargement. *European Journal of Communication*, 21(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323106060987
- Schuck, Andreas, Xezonakis, Georgios, Banducci, Susan, & De Vreese, Claes H. (2010). European Parliament Election Study 2009, Media Study. GESIS Data Archive, Cologne. ZA5056 Data file Version 1.0.0. <u>https://doi.org/10.4232/1.10203</u>

See for Rurkish membership: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0093650210384934

- Semetko, H.(2004). Media, Public Opinion, and Political Action. *The SAGE Handbook Of Media Studies*, 351-374. doi: 10.4135/9781412976077.n18
- Semetko, H., & Valkenburg, P. (2000). Framing European politics: A Content Analysis of Press and Television News. Journal Of Communication, 50(2), 93-109. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2000.tb02843.x
- Semetko, H., De Vreese, C., & Peter, J. (2000). Europeanised politics Europeanised media? European integration and political communication. *West European Politics*, *23*(4), 121-141. doi: 10.1080/01402380008425403
- Sniderman, P. M., & Theriault, S. M. (2004). The structure of political argument and the logic of issue framing. In W. E.
   Saris & P. M. Sniderman (Eds.), *Studies in public opinion* (pp. 133–165). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
   Available at: <a href="https://books.google.nl/books?id=g-LPgbcdZPQC&printsec=frontcover&hl=el&source=gbs">https://books.google.nl/books?id=g-LPgbcdZPQC&printsec=frontcover&hl=el&source=gbs</a> ge summary r&cad=0#v=onepage&g&f=false
- Stanyer, J. (2014).Hypes, waves, and storms: Events and the dynamics of their coverage. In C. Reinemann (Eds.), *Political communication* (pp.151-166). Berlin: De Gruyter Mouton. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110238174. Retrieved from : https://books.google.nl/books?hl=el&Ir=&id=OIpBBwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA375&dq=frames+and+key+events &ots=4cuK2OcQpr&sig=5Lut0hTM74H-cbHz5kQjRlaSIRk&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage&q=key%20events&f=false
- Tankard, J. W. (2001). The empirical approach to the study of media framing. In S. D. Reese, O. H. Gandy & A. E. Grant
   (Eds.), Framing public life: Perspectives on media and our understanding of the social world. Mahwah,
   NJ:Lawrence Erlbaum Associates
- Trantidis, A. (2016). Clientelism and Economic Policy. London: Routledge, <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315656953</u>. Available at:

https://books.google.nl/books?id=JAQRDAAAQBAJ&pg=PT306&lpg=PT306&dq=greece+clientelism+and+busines s+media&source=bl&ots=zsE9\_7kg7t&sig=ACfU3U2U0jNPw\_HofsIAhz9yrRoRwL0kYg&hl=el&sa=X&ved=2ahUKE wiBlvfX1ZfqAhXI-

KQKHQDKAiwQ6AEwA3oECAkQAQ#v=onepage&q=greece%20clientelism%20and%20business%20media&f=false

- Valkenburg, P., Semetko, H., & De Vreese, C. (1999). The Effects of News Frames on Readers' Thoughts and Recall. *Communication Research*, *26*(5), 550-569. doi: 10.1177/009365099026005002
- Van Spanje, J., & De Vreese, C. (2014). Europhile Media and Eurosceptic Voting: Effects of News Media Coverage on Eurosceptic Voting in the 2009 European Parliamentary Elections. *Political Communication*, *31*(2), 325-354. doi: 10.1080/10584609.2013.828137

- Vliegenthart, R., Schuck, A. R. T., Boomgaarden, H. G., & De Vreese, C. H. (2008). News Coverage and Support for European Integration, 1990–2006. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, 20(4), 415-439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpor/edn044</u>
- Walter, S., Dinas, E., Jurado, I., & Konstantinidis, N. (2018). Noncooperation by Popular Vote: Expectations, Foreign Intervention, and the Vote in the 2015 Greek Bailout Referendum. *International Organization*, *72*(4), 969-994. doi: 10.1017/s0020818318000255
- Wettstein, M. (2011). Frame Adoption in Referendum Campaigns: The effect of News Coverage on the Public Salience of Issue Interpretations. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *56*(3), 318-333. doi: 10.1177/0002764211426328
- Zaharopoulos, T. (2018). Social responsibility and the framing of the refugee issue in the Greek press. In Y.R. Kamalipour (Eds.). *Global Discourse in Fractured Times: Perspectives on Journalism, Media, Education, and Politics* (pp.51-64). Newcastle upon Tyne, UK: Cambridge Scholars Publishing. ISBN: 978-1-5275-1109-5. Available at: <u>https://books.google.nl/books?id=cXFmDwAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover&hl=el#v=onepage&q&f=false</u>